Temperature, toponyms and thresholds.

A modelling approach to understanding the spread of plague during the second pandemic

Fabienne Krauer

Dissertation presented for a degree of

Philosophiae Doctor (PhD)

2020



Centre for Ecological and Evolutionary Synthesis Department of Biosciences Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences University of Oslo

© Fabienne Krauer, 2021

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, University of Oslo No. 2365

ISSN 1501-7710

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard. Print production: Reprosentralen, University of Oslo.

Acknowledgements

It is not without irony to finish a PhD thesis on a pandemic during a pandemic. In the past months, I have observed many parallels in the ways people react to the global threat of the COVID-19 pandemic and how they reacted during the historical plague pandemics. I have seen ignorance, rumours, denial, panic and people making profits with useless treatments and services. But I have also seen solidarity and hope. And I have come to understand what it really means to live in isolation and trying to carry on with life, when disease and contagion surrounds you. I more than ever appreciate the work of numerous physicians, scholars and scientists during the second plague pandemic who understood the importance of collecting data during an epidemic, and of those who passed the information down so it can be used by scientists like me.

I foremost would like to thank my supervisors Nils Chr. Stenseth, Boris V. Schmid and Hildegunn Viljugrein for supporting me in many ways and believing in me and my work, even when I didn't. A special thank you goes to Ottar Bjørnstad and Andrew JK Conlan for helping me to improve my modelling skills and my work. Thank you also to all the friends who have accompanied and supported me on this rocky journey: Katie, Fränzi, Xiaoyan, Amine, Damie, Lulu, Anneke, Giada, Stefaniya, Flora, Meriam, Oliver, Claudio, and many more. I am also very grateful for funding and administrative support from CEES and the Kristine Bonnevie Travel Stipend at UiO.

But most of all, I would like to thank my family for encouraging, supporting and loving me no matter what.

For my dad.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	i
List of papers	vii
Summary	.1
Introduction	.3
Background	.3
Microbiology and evolution	.3
Pathogenesis and clinical forms	.4
The plague transmission cycle	.5
The rodent-flea scenario	.5
The human ectoparasites scenario	.6
Mechanisms of the vector-borne transmission act	.7
Plague and climate	.8
History of plague	.9
The first pandemic	.9
The second pandemic	.9
The third pandemic	12
Knowledge gaps and controversies	13
The seasonality	13
The vector	13
The contribution of pneumonic plague	14
The spatial and temporal extent of the second pandemic	15
The available data	17
Aims	21
Paper summaries	23
Discussion	27
Why epidemics grow and decline	27
Structure of historical plague models	28
Temperature, human fleas and the seasonality of plague	30
Other factors that influence seasonality	31

Further evidence for human ectoparasites	32
A proposal of the mechanism of historical plague transmission	33
Perspectives	34
Bibliography	35

List of papers

Paper I

The influence of temperature on the seasonality of historical plague outbreaks *Fabienne Krauer*, *Hildegunn Viljugrein, Katharine R. Dean*.

Manuscript under review at Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences

Paper II

The seasonal abundance of *Pulex irritans* and its correlation with historical plague: insights from mathematical simulations

Fabienne Krauer, Katharine R. Dean, Ottar N. Bjørnstad, Nils Chr. Stenseth, Boris V. Schmid

Manuscript.

Paper III

The human flea and the seasonality of plague in pre-industrial Europe: a modelling study using historical data from 17th century London *Fabienne Krauer*, *Katharine R. Dean, Ottar N. Bjørnstad, Andrew J. K. Conlan, Nils Chr. Stenseth, Boris V. Schmid*

Manuscript.

Paper IV

Mapping the plague through natural language processing *Fabienne Krauer*, *Boris V. Schmid*

Manuscript

Summary

Plague is one of the most infamous infectious diseases. For centuries, the disease caused by the bacterium *Yersinia pestis* has ravaged the world and caused millions of casualties. Three pandemics are historically recorded, but the second was by far the largest in terms of numbers of deaths and duration. The second pandemic began around 1346 at the conjunction of Europe and Asia with the Black Death period, and lasted until the 18th century. During this time, multiple plague waves swept across Europe and the Mediterranean, and thousands of outbreaks were recorded in historical sources. Despite a richness of records on plague, some of the key epidemiological aspects such as the seasonality, the vector(s) involved or the contribution of pneumonic plague have not been uncovered yet. This thesis aims to address these knowledge gaps using mathematical and statistical approaches.

Paper I systematically investigates the seasonality of second pandemic outbreaks. I studied the epidemic peak timing and growth rates of newly digitised outbreaks across Europe and the Mediterranean, and their association with temperature and precipitation. The results show that some second pandemic outbreaks exhibited a distinct seasonal pattern, which could be partially explained by the existence of an optimal temperature range conducive of epidemic growth.

In paper II, I investigate potential mechanisms underlying the findings from paper I by studying the role of a highly debated, potential plague vector: the human flea (*Pulex irritans*). I use published experimental data to model the temperature-dependent life cycle of *P. irritans* and predict the resulting seasonal flea abundance for Europe and the Mediterranean. These results were correlated with historical plague mortality from paper I. The findings suggest that the flea abundance coincides with plague outbreaks for many places in the temperate climate zone, but less so for the Mediterranean region.

In paper III, I synthesize the results from paper I and II. I developed a deterministic, compartmental disease transmission model that accounts for seasonal human-to-human transmission by a human ectoparasite vector as well as direct, pneumonic transmission. The results show that the optimal flea abundance must peak several weeks before the plague mortality in order to explain a causal relationship. Furthermore, this paper confirms findings from modern outbreaks that the average contribution of pneumonic plague is only minor compared to bubonic plague. Hence, the human flea as a plague vector could indeed explain the seasonal mortality pattern if the vector-to-host ratio and the bacteraemia of the hosts were large enough.

Finally, in paper IV, I digitised a historical plague treatise and generated a novel geocoded dataset of plague outbreaks during the second pandemic. I compared the performance of several natural language processing algorithms for the extraction of geographical places with plague, and explored how simple text mining techniques can help to understand qualitative plague narratives. The integration of my novel data with an existing re-digitised dataset shows that the spatio-temporal extent of the second pandemic was larger than often referred to, and that the focus may have shifted from western Europe to southeastern Europe and western Asia in the 17th century.

In summary, this thesis provides further insight into the hypothesis of human ectoparasites as potential plague vectors during the second pandemic by exploring the relationship of temperature, the human flea and the seasonality of outbreaks. This work also contributes to the effort to building of global plague database with one novel and one improved dataset of plague outbreaks for the second pandemic.

Introduction

Background

Plague is a zoonosis caused by the bacterium *Yersinia pestis*. It has been classified as a re-emerging and notifiable disease by the World Health Organization (WHO). Since the 1950s more than 80,000 cases and almost 7000 deaths have been reported globally [1]. As of today, seven countries are regularly affected by outbreaks among humans (Brazil, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Madagascar, Myanmar, Peru, the United States and Vietnam). Three plague pandemics are historically and biologically documented: the first pandemic in the $6^{th} - 8^{th}$ century, the second pandemic during the 14^{th} - 19^{th} century and the third pandemic that started in the 19^{th} century in Asia [2]. All three pandemics together resulted in millions of casualties, which makes plague one of the most infamous infectious diseases. The era of large epidemics is mainly over now, but *Y. pestis* is considered a category A bioterrorism agent by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) because it is highly lethal if untreated [3].

Microbiology and evolution

Y. pestis is a gram-negative rod-shaped coccobacillus bacterium. The virulence of Y. pestis is determined by multiple mechanisms, which all contribute to host immune evasion and facilitate extracellular replication. Y. pestis possesses a type three secretion system (T3SS), which it uses to inject effector proteins (Yops, encoded on the plasmids pYV and pCD1) into the host cell [4]. The purpose of the Yop effector proteins is to inhibit phagocytosis by macrophages, downregulate the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and trigger the death of the host cell [4, 5]. The plasmid pFra/pMT encodes Yersinia murine toxin (Ymt), which blocks β adrenergic receptors in hosts and promotes the survival of the bacterium in the midgut of the flea vector [6]. The Pla protein, encoded on the plasmid pPla/pPCP, activates host plasmin, which leads to the destruction of extracellular matrix and facilitates the invasion and migration of Y. pestis within the host [4]. Y. pestis in its current form evolved from its progenitor Yersinia pseudotuberculosis around 5000 years ago by acquisition of the virulence plasmids and inactivation of the virulence-associated gene pde3 [7]. These steps enabled Y. pestis to colonize fleas and thus promoted the flea-borne transmission route [8]. The genomic population structure of Y. pestis has five phylogenetic branches (0-4) with branches 1-4 radiating from branch 0 (big bang event) [9]. Ancient DNA (aDNA) samples from the Bronze Age and the 6th century AD are placed on branch 0, while all later aDNA samples from the second and third plague pandemic are placed on branch 1 [9].

Pathogenesis and clinical forms

There are three major clinical forms of plague: Bubonic plague, septicaemic plague, and primary and secondary pneumonic plague. Another, rare clinical form is pharyngeal or gastrointestinal plague, which can occur after the ingestion of infected animals [10].

Bubonic plague, which is characterised by lymphadenopathy, is the most frequent form and accounts for approximately 65-90% of all plague cases [2, 11, 12]. After the bacterium is deposited in the skin through a flea bite or another cutaneous lesion, Y. pestis bacteria colonize the local lymph node, where they grow rapidly and trigger an immune response resulting in a large swelling of the lymph node (bubo) [13]. Buboes occur mostly inguinal and femoral resulting from infection sites in the lower body, but they can also be found axillary, supraclavicular or cervical [2, 12]. Infected patients develop symptoms of fever, malaise, chills and lymphadenopathy after an average incubation period of two to six days [14]. Other manifestations include carbuncles (ulcerations) cutaneous or petechiae (hemorrhages). The pus produced in necrotic infected lymph nodes is highly infectious [14]. The case fatality ratio of untreated bubonic plague was estimated around 66% [11].

Septicaemic plague occurs when the infection spreads from a lymph node through the lymphatic system into the bloodstream and disseminates systemically. Many patients with bubonic plague have low-level, intermittent bacteraemia, but when the bacterial growth cannot be controlled by the immune system, septicaemia develops leading to multiple organ failure and death [15]. The level of bacteraemia detected in plague patients can range from <10 to 4×10^7 CFU/ml, and larger amounts of bacteria in the blood are associated with higher mortality [16]. The threshold of bacteraemia leading to death in most cases is unclear, but data from the Indian Plague Commission show that more than half of all fatal septicaemic cases had levels of >100 CFU/cc of cultured blood [17]. The average survival of untreated, septicaemic patients is short (2 days, range 1-10 days) [17, 18]. Septicaemic plague can also occur without apparent lymphadenopathy [19], but the main route of infection is still considered a cutaneous lesion, and the swelling of the lymph node may be missed because of fast dissemination or deep lymphadenopathy [14].

Primary pneumonic plague occurs through inhalation of infectious droplets. The bacteria colonize the alveoli of the lung and cause a massive inflammatory response, which manifests with coughing and the production of bloody sputum. The incubation period is short (2-4 days) and most patients die 1-3 days after

symptom onset [20]. Pneumonic transmission requires close contact of infector and infectee, and outbreaks of primary pneumonic plague are thus usually small in size [21]. Large pneumonic outbreaks like 1911 in Manchuria [22] or 2017 in Madagascar [23] are rare. Occasionally, infectious droplets can be transmitted from cats to their owners [2]. The infection of the lungs can also occur after bubonic and subsequent systematic infection (secondary pneumonic plague), which occurs in about 10% of the cases [24]. Primary and secondary pneumonic plague cases account for about 8-35% of all plague cases depending on the setting [2, 11, 12]. The case fatality ratio of pneumonic plague is about 93% [11].

The plague transmission cycle

The rodent-flea scenario

The transmission cycle of plague involves many actors, and may include different phases such as the enzootic, epizootic and epidemic phase (Figure 1). In the traditional transmission model, Y. pestis is transmitted between rodent hosts by a flea vector in a enzootic cycle with low fatality and partial resistance of the hosts [25]. These enzootic cycles occur mainly in sylvatic rodent populations, called plague foci, and several different species may act as reservoirs that maintain plague at low levels (maintenance hosts) [26]. Alternative theories propose that the rodent fleas or soil components such as Protozoa may also act as disease reservoirs [26]. Such enzootic plague foci exist on every continent except Australia, many of which were seeded in the past century during the global expansion of plague. The known foci are located mainly in semi-arid to arid areas and low-humidity forest zones [2, 27]. Rodent species involved in the enzootic phase include for prairie dogs, ground squirrels or great gerbils [28]. When plague spreads to more susceptible rodent populations (amplifying hosts), such as commensal (domestic) rodents, large epizootics occur where the majority of the rodents succumb to the disease [2, 25]. The most famous commensal rodents involved in the epizootic phase are the black rat (*Rattus rattus*) and the brown rat (*Rattus norvegicus*) [14]. The vector that is most often associated with the black rat and plague epizootics is the oriental rat flea, Xenopsylla cheopis, however many other flea species are capable of transmitting the bacterium [29]. Epizootic phases might also occur in sylvatic populations, but the circumstances and the distinction from the enzootic phase are unclear [26]. These die-offs in the rodent populations lead to the release of a large number of fleas looking for new hosts in other species [30]. Humans are infected if they are bitten by these free, infectious fleas. A spillover of plague to the human population is generally a rare event and humans are considered incidental host [31]. However, epidemics may occur if the number of free infectious rodent fleas is large enough to infect multiple persons. Livestock or pets,

including dogs, cats [32], cattle and camels [33], can also become infected if bitten by infectious fleas.



Figure 1. The plague transmission cycle with known transmission routes (black solid arrows), hypothetical transmission routes (grey solid arrows) and courses of disease in humans (black dotted arrows).

The human ectoparasites scenario

Alternative transmission routes of plague through human ectoparasites have been proposed for the second and the third pandemic [34-37]. This transmission cycle does not require an intermediate rat host and plague would be transmitted directly between humans. A sick rodent would only be required to introduce the disease in the human population. In the human ectoparasite scenario, humans are not deadend hosts and must transmit back to the vector to complete the cycle. Candidate vectors include the human flea (*Pulex irritans*), the head louse (*Pediculus humanus capitis*) or the body louse (*Pediculus humanus corporis*). Particularly the human flea has been suggested repeatedly, but little research has been done to confirm its capacity as a plague vector.

In the past century, *P. irritans* has repeatedly been associated with plague outbreaks. In rural Tanzania, the human flea was found to be a common domestic parasite, and its density was significantly higher in places with high plague activity [38]. Similarly, in Peru the human flea was the most common domestic ectoparasite and its density was positively associated with plague activity [39]. During an earlier outbreak in 1934, 80-90% of fleas collected from households and belongings were *P. irritans* and head lice isolated from the head of a plague victim

were found to induce bubonic plague in a guinea pig upon inoculation [40]. The author also note that the local population habitually crushed their flea and lice between their teeth suggesting pharyngeal inoculation as a possible transmission route. *Y. pestis* was also isolated from human fleas found in a plague focus in Madagascar in a house with a known plague case [41].

In the 1940s, Blanc and Baltazard investigated plague outbreaks in Morocco, and found that houses were often infested with P. irritans [34, 42]. They collected 200 of the fleas from the house of a plague victim and let them feed on a shaved guinea pig. The animal died days later of bubonic plague. They also used 200 fresh fleas and let them feed on a septicaemic human plague victim. The fleas were then crushed and inoculated into the skin of a guinea pig, that later developed bubonic plague and died. Blanc and Baltazard subsequently hypothesized that direct transmission between humans through human ectoparasites was the dominant route of transmission [43, 44]. Earlier experiments in 1902 by Verjbitski showed that *P. irritans* can be infected when feeding on a plague infected rodent host [45]. He also demonstrated that the fleas could transmit the disease back to animals during the first six days after they were infected. Their faeces were also shown to be infectious for five to six days. The survival of the flea did not appear to be influenced by infection with Y. pestis. Burroughs later conducted similar experiments with a range of flea species [46]. He confirmed with mass transmission experiments that infected *P. irritans* could transmit to guinea pigs. These observations show that transmission is possible both from hosts to the human flea and vice versa, which is crucial for a complete vector-borne cycle. However, the probability of transmission seems to be low particularly from fleas to hosts [46].

Mechanisms of the vector-borne transmission act

In 1914, Bacot and Martin discovered that upon feeding on infected animals, *X. cheopis* developed a biofilm of plague bacteria that blocked the proventriculus (foregut) [47]. They observed that during feeding, the plague bacteria in the block would come into contact with fresh host blood, some of which would be contaminated and regurgitated back into the bite wound. Complete blockage of the proventriculus could occur in some cases leading to the starvation of the flea, which would increase the biting rate and thus the transmission of plague. This mechanism requires the prior development of a block, which may take several weeks, and there is thus an obligatory extrinsic incubation period in the flea before transmission can occur [48]. This theory was later named biofilm-dependent transmission (BDT) and became a popular explanation for transmission through rodent fleas [48]. However, the theory of BDT is not completely compatible with

other observations. Firstly, not all flea species that transmit plague develop a block [29]. Secondly, the requirement of the extrinsic incubation period is not consistent with the rapid dynamics during epizootics [49]. Early transmission experiments with *X. cheopis* and other species at the beginning of the third pandemic had already shown that fleas are able to transmit immediately after infection (early-phase transmission, EPT) [45]. Recent experiments have confirmed that EPT is as efficient as BDT for plague transmission by *X. cheopis* [50] and other flea species [51]. *P. irritans* also rarely develops a proventricular block [46]. The exact mechanism of EPT is unclear. Possible explanations include mechanical transmission from contaminated mouthparts of the flea [46] or a post-infection esophageal reflux, where a portion of the blood and the bacteria flows from the midgut back to the proventriculus within 24 hours post infection [52]. Further transmission then occurs, when fresh blood is mixed with the refluxed portion in the proventriculus and regurgitated back into the bite wound, as suggested for BDT.

Plague and climate

Climatic factors are known to have a large influence on plague activity in animals and humans at different geographical and temporal scales [27]. Both hosts and vectors depend on favourable meteorological conditions. Fleas are highly susceptible to changes in temperature and humidity [53-55]. They have adapted to various ecological niches with different meteorological profiles, and the preferred temperature or humidity ranges depend on the species [56]. Extreme conditions are fatal for all flea species. Rodents are likewise sensitive to climate. For example, the plague prevalence in a population of great gerbils in Kazakhstan was shown to increase by >50% following an increase of just one degree Celsius in spring [57]. Precipitation and temperature are thought to act on vegetation growth, which in turn increases the density of rodents due to increased availability of food (trophic cascade model) [58, 59]. However, this model may not apply to every ecosystem of plague hosts [59, 60]. The interplay between climate, fleas, rodents and human plague has been found to be governed by a threshold system, where the spillover to the human population occurs only if the flea density of rodents surpasses a critical level [30]. The effects of climatic factors can also be observed through plague activity in the human population. In northern China, plague cases increased with wetness, whereas in southern China the inverse was observed [61]. This effect is likely due to the differential response of the rodents in the North (arid climate) compared to the South (humid climate). Anomalies in pacific surface temperatures (Pacific Decadal Oscillation PDO) and the El Niño Southern Oscillations (ENSO) have been linked to human plague incidence in the western United States of 1950-2005: warm phases of the PDO and ENSO, which lead to milder and wetter conditions on the continent, were associated with an increase in human cases [62]. The same positive correlation between ENSO and human plague incidence was also found in Madagascar [63]. Apart from large-scale, inter-annual changes in climatic conditions, intra-annual meteorological conditions that determine the seasons also play a role in shaping the seasonality of plague. Many modern plague foci including Tanzania [64], Madagascar [65], Vietnam [66, 67], India [68] and the United States [11] had a distinct seasonal pattern of plague activity in humans in the past century, which can be linked to specific temperature and/or humidity conditions. In the Democratic Republic of the Congo, where the annual temperature oscillates in a narrow range, no clear plague season was observed, but the incidence was higher in the tropical mountain ecosystem than at lower altitude or drier conditions [69].

History of plague

The first pandemic

For the first pandemic, there is little written evidence. Historical sources mention an emerging pestilence that caused swellings in the groin or armpit and appeared first in Pelusium and Alexandria (Egypt) in 571 AD [70]. The same year, the disease is mentioned also in the Levant, a year later it was in Constantinople and in 543 it had reached the western Mediterranean (Carthago, Rome and Arles). After this first wave called the Justinian plague, it reoccurred periodically at approximately 8-15 year intervals [2]. Many transmission chains were connected to Constantinople, the capital of the Eastern Roman Empire [70]. The causative pathogen of this disease was unknown, but many scholars suspected it to be plague. Molecular methods later confirmed the presence of Y. pestis in human remains found in multiple burial sites in Germany, England, France and Spain [71-73]. The magnitude of this pandemic is unknown, but a recent study refuted the claim of millions of deaths [74]. Nevertheless, the detection of Y. pestis across Europe suggests a wide dispersal throughout the Roman Empire. The same strain that caused the Justinian plague was also found recently in the Tian Shan mountain focus in Kyrgyzstan suggesting that the first plague pandemic may have originated somewhere in the border region of Kyrgyzstan and China [75].

The second pandemic

According to historical sources, the second pandemic in Europe started with a fulminant wave called the Black Death that lasted from 1346 to 1353 and killed approximately 30-60% of the population [2, 76]. The early events leading up to the Black Death can be reconstructed from the account of the notary Gabriele de Mussi [77]. In 1346, when the Mongols laid siege to the Genovese trade city of

Caffa on the Crimean Peninsula (presently Feodosija), a mysterious illness broke out among them, and the corpses of the deceased were allegedly catapulted into the city. The mysterious illness was plague, and soon thereafter the habitants of Caffa became infected. Genovese merchants fled the town on their ships and imported the disease to Europe. Constantinople was first affected in 1347, from where it spread further along trading routes to Messina (Sicily) and later Genova [78]. Another ship brought the disease to Venice. In the following years, plague spread along trading routes through central Europe towards the North of the continent in a clockwise manner. The first plague wave ended in 1353 in north-western Russia and the Baltics. The velocity of spread has been calculated as average 0.66 - 6km/day [76, 79-81]. In the following centuries, many smaller and larger outbreaks occurred throughout Europe often with distinct chains of transmission between highly connected places. The last large epidemics were observed in the 18th century.

The identification of plague as the disease of the second pandemic is now generally accepted [78, 82-84]. Some have argued against Y. pestis as the causative agent of the second plague pandemic because of the fast spread during the Black Death period compared to the third pandemic [85]. Alternative diseases such as anthrax [86] or a hemorrhagic filovirus [87] have been proposed, but both claims have since been refuted [88]. Differences in the historical descriptions of clinical plague symptoms were used to argue that the causative agent of the second pandemic was different from the third pandemic [85] but also this claim did not withstand scientific scrutiny [89]. In the past few years, molecular methods have definitely confirmed the presence of Y. pestis in burials across Europe dating to the 14th century: Barcelona (ES), London (UK), Bolgar (RU), Abbadia San Salvatore (IT), Saint-Laurent-de-la-Cabrerisse (FR), Bergen op Zoom (NL), Oslo (NO), Laishevo (RU), Manching-Pichl (DE), Nabburg (DE) and potentially Toulouse (FR) [7, 9, 90, 91]. Further burial sites with Y. pestis dating to the $15^{\text{th}} - 18^{\text{th}}$ century include Ellwangen (DE, dating 1486-1627), London (UK, dating 1560-1635), Brandenburg an der Havel (DE, dating 1618-1648), Landsberg am Lech (DE, 1455-1632), Cambridge (UK, dating 1475-1536), Starnberg (DE, dating 1423-1523), Stans (CH, dating 1485-1635) and Marseille (FR, dating 1722) [7, 91, 92].

The long duration of the second pandemic raises the question of how exactly it persisted in Europe for several centuries. There are two nonexclusive mechanisms: repeated reintroductions of the disease from outside Europe, and the persistence in local rodent reservoirs [93]. The existence of local reservoirs in Europe during the second pandemic is controversial [7, 92-95]. A recent analysis of outbreak data

from several centuries has shown that most local outbreaks occurred in space-time clusters suggesting more or less continuous spread between cities without involving local reservoirs [94]. The analysis also suggested that plague may have been introduced from Asia to European and Mediterranean maritime ports on at least 16 occasions between 1346 and 1837 following climatic fluctuations in Asia. The number of plague outbreaks was also found to be associated with the distance to navigable rivers: The closer a place was to a river and the wider the river was, the more outbreaks occurred [96]. A similar analysis suggested that proximity to overland trade routes increased the number of outbreaks [97]. Cities that were highly connected through trade activities or pilgrimage were also found to be affected more often and have higher plague mortality than poorly connected settlements [98]. A further analysis using the same plague dataset suggested an association with temperature and aridity index at a lag of minus five years: an increase in drought conditions and a decrease in temperature would lead to an increase in plague outbreaks [99]. In a separate analysis of the same data, the continental spatio-temporal synchrony of these outbreaks was attributed to the occurrence of drought at a lag of minus four years [100]. Another important driver of spread was the movement of large masses of people during war times [78]. The arrival of soldiers was often associated with outbreaks, particularly in the 18th and 19th century. In summary, climate, trade and warfare were likely drivers of longdistance spread. The hypothesis of distinct introductions into Europe followed by temporary regional spread is also supported by the genotypic analysis of Y. pestis extracted from burial samples ranging from the 14th to the 17th century across Europe [9, 101, 102]. However, there is no consensus about how many introductions took place, from where they happened and whether this mechanism could have resulted in the observed pattern of outbreaks in the second plague pandemic.

The alternative hypothesis for the persistence of plague in Europe is that the disease established local rodent reservoirs after a single introduction [7] and caused recurrent outbreaks due to occasional and independent spillover events. Such reservoirs could be located in an urban environment [103] or in wildlife rodents, such as marmots [93]. Wildlife reservoirs of plague are common throughout Asia and in Northern Africa, and persist for decades if not centuries. To date, no past or present reservoir of plague has been discovered in Europe to support the hypothesis that similarly, highly stable local reservoirs played a role in the persistence of plague. However, more transient animal reservoirs could well have existed.

The third pandemic

Early outbreaks recorded in Yunnan province (southwest China) in the 18th century are believed to be the origin of the third pandemic [104]. From Yunnan, plague spread to Taiwan in 1869 and Hainan in 1882, and to Guangzhou Province and Hong Kong in 1894. From Hong Kong it spread globally mainly through steamships [78, 105]. These exportations have led to the establishment of many of the current plague foci [2]. In Europe alone, 1692 cases and 457 deaths were recorded between 1899 and 1947 [105]. These introductions however mainly occurred in port cities and never led to epidemics as large as during the second pandemic [105]. The last outbreaks occurred 1946 in Malta and 1947 in Kaliningrad. The third pandemic was also the time when the most important discoveries around plague were made. In 1894, the Swiss and French bacteriologist Alexandre Yersin was requested by the Institute Pasteur to investigate the plague epidemic in Hong Kong. He was credited as the first to identify and describe the causative pathogen of plague [106]. Yersin named the bacterium Pasteurella pestis, which was later renamed in his honour as Yersinia pestis. Three years later, Paul-Louis Simond, a French physician at the Institut Pasteur in Paris, was sent to India to study the ongoing plague epidemic there. He noticed that epidemics in humans were usually preceded by epidemics in rats [107]. With simple experiments, he discovered that plague was transmitted between rats through their fleas. He was the first to postulate the vector-borne transmission aspect. In India, R. rattus and X. cheopis, were the main actors involved in transmission. Subsequent to Simond's publication, the black rat and its flea became a synonym for plague.

Knowledge gaps and controversies

The epidemiology of historical plague outbreaks, particularly during the second pandemic, is still unresolved despite decades of research. The following section highlights some of the current gaps in knowledge and questions that are highly debated among scholars.

The seasonality

The seasonality of second pandemic plague outbreaks has long been contemplated. Many scholars have noted that outbreaks in France, Switzerland and England stopped at the arrival of winter [80, 82, 84, 108], while in Italy plague season was earlier with peaks in summer [85, 109]. However, the seasonal pattern across Europe has not been studied systematically. A recent attempt at comparing selected epidemiological curves from the Black Death period to the end of the 19th century concluded that second pandemic outbreaks peaked in summer, while third pandemic outbreaks peaked in winter [110]. This "inverse seasonal peak" was explained with the Black Death outbreaks being caused by a viral disease and not Y. pestis. The major problem with this approach is the disregard for the underlying meteorological conditions in these places. The terms summer and winter do not carry much of the same meaning across the globe, and the summer temperatures in temperate Europe are in the same range as the winter temperatures in India. Moreover, the small sample size with less than 20 epidemiological curves makes any further statistical analysis problematic. This example also highlights the need to look beyond simple pattern recognition, and to explore potential drivers of the seasonality of historical plague. Not every seasonal disease incidence is necessarily the result of meteorological condition. For example Campylobacter infections in Switzerland peak every winter due to the traditional consumption of meat fondue around Christmas [111]. However, vector-borne diseases in particular are strongly influenced by climate due to the sensitivity of the vectors to temperature, humidity or precipitation [112, 113]. Thus, the question of the seasonality of second pandemic plague is directly linked to the question of the transmission routes and the vector.

The vector

After Simond published his theory on rodent fleas as plague vectors [107], many scholars assumed the same mechanism of transmission for the second pandemic in Europe without questioning its plausibility (see [85, 88, 114]). Although some have argued early on that Simond's theory may not be appropriate everywhere and human ectoparasites were repeatedly postulated (e.g. [34, 37, 115, 116]), the idea of an alternative transmission framework did not gain much popularity. It is only recently that researchers have started to challenge the traditional plague

transmission framework again [36]. There are multiple arguments against the conventional transmission model in preindustrial Europe. Firstly, the evidence for the conventional rodent plague hosts in Europe is sparse. There is a lack of historical or archaeological evidence about massive rodent die-offs during the epidemics, which are considered a hallmark of epizootic plague [37, 115]. Some authors argue that the ecological environment in northern Europe may have not been suitable for the black rat [86, 95] and there is little archaeological evidence for its presence in Europe [117]. The other commensal plague rodent, the brown rat, was supposedly not present in Europe before 1700 [14, 95, 117]. Secondly, the most famous plague vector, X. cheopis, thrives mainly in tropical and subtropical climate zones and could probably not establish itself in northern Europe [118]. Thirdly, the Black Death has spread much faster across Europe than modern plague epidemics in the US, China or India that were known to involve rats as an intermediate host [79]. These arguments suggest that alternative routes of transmission must have played a role in preindustrial Europe. P. irritans was present in various places in Europe since the Neolithic, including France [119], the UK [120], the Netherlands [121] and Norway [122]. The results of a recent modelling study fitted to second pandemic plague data show that early-phase transmission through human ectoparasites is mathematically possible if the vectorto-host ratio is large enough, even if the transmission probabilities are low [123]. However, a biologically more realistic modelling approach is needed to further investigate this hypothesis. Firstly, the seasonality of the human flea must be considered explicitly to better understand the threshold of vector-to-host ratio needed for the establishment of an outbreak, as well as the effect of seasonal changes on the shape of the outbreak. Secondly, the inclusion of pneumonic transmission is necessary to understand the contribution of the different transmission routes (see below).

The contribution of pneumonic plague

The phenomenon of repeated plague outbreaks in many northern countries, where *X. cheopis* would probably not have survived, has been explained with several alternative theories. One of these explanations is pneumonic transmission. Historical sources often explicitly mention pneumonic symptoms such as chest pain, coughing and bloody expectorate [89]. This has prompted some scholars to hypothesize that second pandemic outbreaks were mainly the result of purely primary pneumonic transmission [124, 125]. The case of Iceland was used to postulate a pneumonic plague that killed half of the population during two winter epidemics in the 15th century based on the low temperatures and the potential description of pneumonia in contemporary Icelandic annals [124]. However, the historical descriptions of pneumonia do not usually provide any evidence whether

it was a case of primary or secondary pneumonic plague, and retrospective diagnoses are thus problematic. Both secondary and primary pneumonic plague lead to violent coughing and death if untreated. The most important clinical difference between primary and secondary pneumonic plague is the more rapid course of the disease after infection through inhalation. Large epidemics of primary pneumonic plague are rare. A recent modelling study suggested that primary pneumonic transmission alone was implausible for the Black Death period because of the low reproduction number [126]. Under certain conditions, pneumonic transmission may be predominant as in the case of a large outbreak in Manchuria in 1910/11, where at least 5009 cases occurred [22]. Crowded and poorly ventilated housing conditions, a large proportion of migrant workers, and the construction of the Manchurian Railway had contributed substantially to the rapid spread of the disease [127]. The population density of Iceland – and many other pre-industrial European settlements - must have been much lower than Manchuria in 1910, and it is questionable whether such a large epidemic of pure primary pneumonic plague could have occurred. Modern outbreaks are often mixed: the majority are bubonic cases, some of which develop secondary pneumonia and infect other through droplets, which will result in a small proportion of pneumonic cases [12, 128]. These observations suggest that second pandemic outbreaks were likely also mixed and included both bubonic and pneumonic transmission through primary and secondary pneumonic cases. However, the contribution of pneumonic transmission under the assumption of a human ectoparasite vector has not yet been studied.

The spatial and temporal extent of the second pandemic

The second plague pandemic – and particularly the Black Death period – has undoubtedly affected most of Europe and the Mediterranean. Numerous historians have studied and transcribed thousands of historical documents and other archival material. Many have synthesized and compiled information from various sources in an attempt to describe the extent of the second pandemic systematically (for example [78, 80, 129]). These data have been used to map the spatio-temporal spread of the second pandemic and to show that the first wave (i.e. the Black Death) propagated like a wave-front through Europe in a clockwise manner [79, 130, 131]. These compilations have also shown that plague disappeared from central Europe after the 17th century (with occasional outbreaks until the 18th century) [132]. However, these data collections suffer from gaps in the spatial coverage in some regions such as Eastern Europe [133] and overrepresentation in others such as France. Ignoring the selection bias in the data has led some to draw false conclusions about the epicentres of plague activity (see [134]). There is broad agreement among plague scholars that the spatio-temporal extent of historical plague must be updated with a systematic and interdisciplinary approach [135-137]. Better insights into where and when plague outbreaks happened will contribute to understanding further aspects of transmission such as environmental or socioeconomic drivers, potential vectors or the role of reservoirs vs. repeated introductions. However, the systematic generation of global plague data from primary or secondary source data is a massive undertaking. Automated processes such as machine learning and natural language processing are potentially useful to facilitate this task, but their application in historical epidemiology is in its infancy.

The available data

The epidemiological curve is the cornerstone of every epidemiological outbreak analysis. It is commonly composed of the number of incident cases collected at regular time intervals. The shape of the curve comprises information about the speed of spread and the average number of secondary cases. Unfortunately, the majority of information passed down from the second pandemic is of qualitative nature and systematically collected epidemiological outbreak data in the modern sense are rare. However, some places, particularly cities with repeated outbreaks, have early recognised the value of specifically tracking plague deaths across time to understand the progress of the epidemic. The London Bills of Mortality are a weekly collection of deaths of a large variety of causes for each parish (transcribed and published in [138] and [83]). They were published for the first time in 1562 and continued until 1840 with some minor interruptions [139, 140]. The numbers were based on information collected by the searchers, commonly elderly women. When notified about a death, the searchers would visit the home to authenticate the death and collect information about the name, age and cause of death for a fixed fee [139]. The trustworthiness of the numbers has been questioned for various reasons [140], but overall there is a good agreement of the all-cause deaths reported in the Bills and the parish burial records [141]. In Barcelona, the Consell de Cent Jurats (the council of the hundred jurors) commissioned a similar collection of the daily number of plague deaths between 1457 and 1590 (transcribed and published in [142]). The data collection was delegated to the letter-carriers [143]. For the 14th and 15th century, few other epidemiological time series with explicit plague deaths are known, for example Florence (see [144]). For the 16th to 18th century, some data from Spain and Portugal [145, 146], the UK [82, 83], France [147], Poland and Russia [148] and some more have been transcribed and published, but many more numbers may be still be undiscovered somewhere in the archives.

Whether plague victims could unequivocally be identified as such in times when microbiological diagnostics were not yet invented, is debatable. Historically, the word "plague" was often used ubiquitously to describe any disease with high mortality [149]. The description of buboes can be found in many sources from the 14th century until the end of the second pandemic [78, 89]. Some have argued that the distribution of buboes according to second pandemic sources differed from records of the third pandemic, and that these were different diseases [150]. However, the position of the bubo depends on the location of the flea bite, and buboes on the upper body suggest that people were bitten while lying down [89]. Given the similarity of some of the symptoms, it is also conceivable that some of these outbreaks reported as plague were in fact epidemic typhus [82]. This inherent

uncertainty in historical epidemiology can only be reduced with aDNA confirmation for *Y. pestis*, but a situation where both molecular and epidemiological data are available is rare.

Besides designated plague records, the official registration of all-cause deaths is useful for the reconstruction of plague outbreaks. Burial or other all-cause death counts are often more readily available from parish or other town registers than plague-specific data. These records may also contain other useful demographic information such as the name, age, sex, profession and place of residence, and sometimes the cause of death. These additional information were recently used to reconstruct a large outbreak in Venice in 1630-31 and to show a spatial heterogeneity in the spread at the end of the outbreak [151]. A general limitation of these data is that if the background mortality and the cause of death is not known and cannot be subtracted, the actual number of plague deaths is difficult to approximate. However, epidemiological curves from all-cause death counts can still be used to estimate the epidemic peak or the growth rate as long as the background mortality is constant.

Other surrogate data to study plague outbreaks include testaments or wills and vacant benefices. Both data types have been used to determine the peak timing, duration and growth rates of epidemics [82, 85, 126, 150]. However, the agreement of testaments or benefice data with plague mortality, and thus their usefulness as surrogates for epidemiological curves is not well known. Most of these datasets contain only a few dozen observations per time unit and vary substantially over time (i.e. few signal and much noise), which makes statistical inference problematic. Besides, only a fraction of the population made a last will, and the sample is hardly representative of the population. As shown with the example of London, testaments probated at two different courts can yield substantially different numbers for the same year [152]. A recent study comparing the Bills of Mortality to wills data from the same years has shown only a weak correlation between the two time series and a lag of several weeks between the peaks [126]. Vacant benefices are even more questionable as surrogate data, because of the generally low numbers and because the level of random fluctuations due to other reasons than death by plague is unknown.

The majority of information on plague outbreaks are simple occurrence data for a given year and place. Two of the largest compilations that cover most parts of Europe include the works of Sticker in 1908 [78] and Biraben in 1975 [80]. The latter has been digitized twice [153, 154], but the resulting datasets are both incomplete. Despite the apparent gaps in the digitized data, they have been used

extensively to analyse drivers of transmission [94, 96-100]. There is a need to update and expand the existing dataset (see "Knowledge gaps and controversies") to reduce the risk of interpreting biased data.

Aims

The aim of this thesis is to improve our understanding of the spread of plague during the second pandemic with a focus on the identified knowledge gaps and controversies, and to increase and improve the body of epidemiological plague data. To address these questions, I use a combination of statistical and mathematical modelling as well as text mining approaches.

Paper I focuses on the seasonal aspect of second pandemic outbreaks. In this project, I generate a novel, large dataset of weekly or monthly plague and all-cause mortality data from multiple places across Europe and the Mediterranean. The aim of this study is to establish whether a seasonal pattern is detectable in the data, and how meteorological factors impact the peak timing and the epidemic growth rate.

Paper II investigates potential mechanisms underlying the findings in paper I by exploring the hypothesis of the human flea as a plague vector. I use published entomological data on the temperature sensitivity to simulate the seasonal abundance of the human flea with a deterministic, compartmental model. Finally, this paper explores the correlation of the seasonal flea abundance with the seasonal pattern of human plague mortality from paper I.

Paper III builds on findings from paper I and II, and proposes a novel dynamic transmission model that incorporates the seasonal abundance of the human flea as well as the contribution of pneumonic plague. I use the example of 17th century London to demonstrate how seasonal plague mortality can be explained with the seasonal vector abundance and show under which biological conditions the hypothesis of the human flea is plausible.

Paper IV aims to extend the available data on the spatio-temporal occurrence of second pandemic plague outbreaks. I digitise the plague treatise by Sticker and compare the performance of different natural language processing (NLP) tools for the automated extraction of location data from the text. In addition, I explore salient plague topics in the book to gain contextual information beyond the simple place and time of outbreaks. The final product is a geocoded dataset for the second and the beginning of the third pandemic in Eurasia, as well as an updated, redigitized version of Birabens plague list. The integration of the two datasets aims to update the spatial and temporal extent of the second plague pandemic.

Paper summaries

Paper I: The influence of temperature on the seasonality of historical plague outbreaks

The seasonality of second pandemic outbreaks has not been investigated systematically. Anecdotal evidence from historical sources suggests that there was a distinct plague season in some places, but it is not known how the plague seasons differed geographically and what its drivers were. This study aimed to 1) detect whether a seasonal pattern existed for places with multiple outbreaks, 2) investigate whether temperature and precipitation influenced the epidemic peak timing and 3) quantify how temperature influenced the epidemic growth rate. The results of a GLM regression model with a negative binomial error structure show that four of the five places with at least four outbreaks had a statistically significant seasonal pattern. Moreover, the percentage distribution of monthly plague deaths of the complete dataset showed a clear latitudinal gradient with a shift of the cases towards the end of the year the farther North a place was. There was also a strong negative association between the peak week and the average annual temperature: a decrease by one degree Celsius delayed the epidemic by 1.4 weeks. Precipitation on the other hand was not associated with the epidemic peak timing. The result of a GAMM regression model showed that the time-varying growth rate of these outbreaks was influenced by temperature. The maximum growth was observed at 17.3°C, positive growth was predicted only between 11.7°C and 21.5°C. This study showed for the first time that 1) a seasonal pattern existed for second pandemic outbreaks and 2) temperature may be one driver among other factors. These findings warrant a closer investigation into potential mechanisms that link temperature and plague mortality in Europe and the Mediterranean.

Paper II: The seasonal abundance of *Pulex irritans* and its correlation with historical plague: insights from mathematical simulations

The seasonality of vector-borne diseases is mainly influenced by the seasonal abundance of the vectors. Insect vectors are generally highly susceptible to ambient temperature and humidity or precipitation. The findings of a distinct seasonal pattern of second pandemic outbreaks raises the question about the seasonality of the human flea and how it agrees with the observed plague mortality patterns in humans. The aim of this study was threefold: 1) to estimate the temperature-dependent mortality rates of pre-adult and adult flea stages, the transition rate between the stages, and the reproduction rate based on published experimental data, 2) to simulate the seasonal abundance of the human flea with a deterministic, compartmental model using the temperature-dependent life cycle

parameters estimated in the first step, and 3) to investigate the correlation of the predicted flea abundance and the observed plague mortality. The estimated mortality function for pre-adult and adult fleas showed the longest lifespan at a temperature around 13.8° C and 15.8°C, respectively. The transition and reproduction rate both increased with increasing temperature. The simulated flea abundance showed a clear, unimodal peak in autumn for temperature profiles as in central and northern Europe (temperate climate). For hot temperature profiles as in Egypt, the flea peak occurred in spring. For the transition zone in between (most of the Mediterranean), two peaks were predicted in spring and autumn. The predicted flea seasonality correlated well with human plague mortality for places in temperate Europe and in Egypt, but the abundance with two peaks for places in the Mediterranean was not confirmed in any of the outbreaks. These findings raise the question of what shape the seasonal flea abundance must have been in order to explain a causal relationship between human fleas and plague.

Paper III: The human flea and the seasonality of plague in pre-industrial Europe: a modelling study using historical data from 17th century London

Although the seasonality of human plague correlates with the predicted seasonal abundance of human fleas in some places, the role of the human flea as a potential plague vector is not proven. Specifically, the exact peak timing of the fleas in relation to the peak in plague and the necessary vector-to-host ratio is unclear. The aim of this study was 1) to determine the shape of the flea abundance under the assumption of a causal relationship, 2) to quantify the contribution of pneumonic transmission in addition to vector-borne plague and 3) to establish the conditions necessary for plague to invade the population. This was established with a novel, deterministic, compartmental disease model, which explicitly estimated a timevarying function for the susceptible fleas as well as the proportion of cases with the different clinical forms of plague (bubonic, septicaemic, primary and secondary pneumonic). The model was fit to a plague mortality time series from the Bills of Mortality from London 1639-1647. The results of this study show that the optimal flea abundance peaks ten weeks before the peak in human mortality, and that pneumonic plague contributed about 30% of the cases. The invasion of plague was not possible below a vector-to-host ratio of 7.7:1, unless the vectors increased rapidly enough after the introduction to push the basic reproduction number above unity.

Paper IV: Mapping the plague through natural language processing

The core aspects of infectious disease epidemiology are place, time and person. The places and times of plague outbreaks during the second pandemic have been collected and compiled by many historians. However, the most popular dataset is incompletely digitized and suffers from a regional selection bias. The aim of this study was to improve and expand the existing data by digitising a plague treatise published by Sticker in 1908. Specifically, this study aimed to 1) investigate the performance of different natural language processing (NLP) tools to extract toponyms (place names) automatically, 2) to explore the use of text mining to gain additional information about salient topics, and 3) to compare the new Sticker dataset to a re-digitized version of the existing Biraben dataset to update the information on the spatial and temporal extent of the second pandemic. Of the tested NLP algorithms, spaCy had the highest sensitivity (0.92). The exploratory text mining approach showed that clothes and rats were among the most frequently used nouns. While clothes appeared regularly throughout the text, the discussion of rats occurred mainly in the section of the third pandemic. The word for clothes was also often linked to bedding, equipment and people. Compared to the existing Biraben dataset, this study found 1404 new outbreaks, most of which were located in south eastern Europe and southern Russia, the Caucasus, Iran and India. This new dataset represents a valuable addition to the existing corpus of plague data.
Discussion

Why epidemics grow and decline

Many factors determine the growth and decline of epidemics. Formally, the reduction in the force of infection to humans, regardless of whether they are vector-borne or not, can occur because of the exhaustion of susceptibles, the removal of the infectious agents, the reduction in the contacts between them or the reduction of the duration of infectiousness [155]. The availability of susceptible hosts depends, among other things, also on the pre-existing level of immunity in the population. The concept of herd immunity was published in the early 20th century and describes the status when the proportion of immune individuals in a population surpasses a certain threshold, such that the number of susceptibles becomes insufficient for successful transmission and the epidemic declines [155]. This concept is mainly used for planning vaccination strategies, but the recent COVID19 pandemic has compelled some scientists to propose herd immunity as a strategy to mitigate the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus [156]. Factors that remove the infectious agents (vectors or other humans) or reduce the contact rates between them include the implementation of control measures, changes in human behaviour, and external environmental forcing that acts on the vectors and/or hosts, for example meteorological conditions such as temperature or precipitation. Environmental forcing is an important aspect of vector-borne diseases, and affects both the seasonal as well as the inter-annual variation in disease incidence [113]. For example the resurgence of many mosquitoe-borne diseases, such as Dengue virus or Malaria, is influenced by changes in temperature, humidity and/or precipitation [157, 158]. The main underlying mechanism is the sensitivity of the various developmental stages as well as the biting behaviour of the vectors to meteorological factors. For example, the transmission of Zika, Dengue and Chikungunya virus by the mosquito species Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus is highest between 25°C and 36°C [159-161]. Seasonal climate also influences host behaviour. For directly transmitted respiratory diseases, indoor crowding in winter may lead to an increase in infectious contacts [113]. For vector-borne diseases, seasonal activities such as harvesting may increase the infectious contacts beyond the effect of climate on the vector directly. Due to the complex interplay of climate, host and vector biology, human behaviour and demographic effects, climatic and meteorological factors alone cannot explain disease incidence [162]. Thus, a dynamic model for historical plague transmission ideally incorporates different factors that could influence the transmission process, in particular if the disease process is fitted or simulated over a longer time period.

Structure of historical plague models

The state-of-the-art method to study the transmission dynamics of infectious diseases is the mathematical SIR-type model [163]. The choice of model structure and the underlying assumptions can influence the outcome of the model substantially. In order for models to be both informative and realistic, we need to find the right balance between complexity and abstraction. In the context of a vector-borne disease, due diligence is owed to representing the dynamics of the vector itself in a biologically meaningful and interpretable manner, especially in the context of seasonal epidemics.

The classical model of rat-borne plague transmission in humans was published in 2000 by Keeling and Gilligan [103, 164]. In their epizootic model, the disease persists in a local rat population. When the rat density is low, free infectious fleas search and infect human hosts with some searching efficiency. However only large outbreaks among rats lead to a substantial number of human cases. The force of infection to humans depended linearly on the number of free fleas, but decayed exponentially with the number of rats. The model was extended to include a seasonally forced carrying capacity for the number of rats. However, as the authors note, the seasonal dynamics were "averaged out" at the time scale of one year or more, and the oscillations in their model trajectory are mainly due to the changing susceptibility of rats and humans. The same model was later adapted by Monecke et al. to describe a single outbreak in Freiberg (Germany) [165]. Their results suggest that the human deaths increased only after the rat population collapsed to a sixth of the original size. They assumed disease importation from outside, and the survival of fleas was estimated as 18 weeks. Another, simplified version of this model was published by Didelot for the large outbreak in Cairo in 1801 [166]. The free fleas were not modelled explicitly but the transmission from rats to humans was substituted with a force of infection from rat carcasses. Most of these models have in common that the modelled outbreak stops because of the collapse of the rat population, and a new outbreak is only possible once the rodent population has regenerated enough susceptible individuals. A different approach was chosen by Whittles for the outbreak in Eyam (UK) in 1665-1666, where transmission occurred both from an unlimited pool of rodents and between humans directly (although the mechanism was not specified and theoretically could include pneumonic and ectoparasites transmission) [167]. In their model, the outbreak would stop due to the structured contacts of people within and between households and stochastic extinction. The authors hypothesized a change in transmission route to explain the seasonal pattern with peaks in autumn. White and Mordechai later combined the rat model with secondary pneumonic transmission to simulate the

expected number of deaths and the duration of epidemics during the first pandemic [168]. Lazzari et al. recently reconstructed the large epidemic in Venice in 1630-31 and investigated various rat models and models for direct transmission to explain the epidemic shape with a large peak and a long tail with temporary small surges [151]. They showed that a stochastic delayed behavioural SIR model could explain the shape of the curve, and a change in transmission from bubonic to pneumonic as hypothesized by others may not be required. Dean et al. were the first to model the transmission through human ectoparasites without the involvement of rodent hosts [123]. The problem of the epidemic decline was solved by estimating the proportion of the population that was exposed. Once this partitioned exposed population was depleted of susceptibles, the outbreak would stop.

The seasonal aspect of plague transmission was explicitly modelled only in recent studies. Bacaer published a modified version of the Keeling-Gilligan model in 2012, where the transmission probability from flea to host was modelled with a hyperbolic tangent function of the temperature [169]. This parametrization was based on the finding that fleas are less likely to transmit Y. pestis when the temperature was hot. The abundance of fleas however was kept constant throughout the year. In their model, the epizootic in rats and the outbreak in humans largely overlap with a small delay between the peak of a few weeks. Lewnard and Townsend approached the seasonality problem with a seasonal forcing of the mortality function of the free, infectious fleas in the form of a harmonic cosine function [170]. In addition, the rat population was modelled with a hereditary resistance to plague to explain the long-term seasonal phase shift and decline of cases over time. A similar approach was chosen by Ngeleja et al. with sinusoidal transmission rates between rodents, fleas and humans [171]. However, the model system did not result in a seasonal pattern and the periodicity was at a larger scale suggesting that it was driven mainly by the availability of susceptible hosts. Nguyen modelled the outbreak in Madagascar in 2017 with a sinusoidal function to describe the temperature-dependent density of the rat population [23]. In their model, the outbreak stopped because of the implemented control interventions.

In **paper III** I have chosen a different approach. I focused on the seasonal abundance of the vector and its effect on plague transmission while accounting for the development of population immunity and renewal of the susceptibles through immigration and birth processes. I modelled the seasonal abundance of susceptible fleas directly to gain more information about the vectors, instead of calculating a seasonal force of infection only to humans. I also made less assumptions about the shape of the curve (compared to a sinusoidal forcing), and the function allows for a

more flexible seasonal abundance. In addition, I modelled the contribution of pneumonic transmission both from primary and secondary pneumonic plague. Mixed epidemics occurred often, but this circumstance has rarely been considered in models of historical plague.

Temperature, human fleas and the seasonality of plague

In **paper I**, I have shown that temperature played an important role in the timing and growth of second pandemic outbreaks. Temperatures around 17°C were associated with the largest epidemic growth and no growth was observed below 4°C. The temperatures in Europe and the Mediterranean differ substantially, and thus the minimum temperature threshold conducive of positive epidemic growth was attained at different time points of the year for different places. As a result, the epidemic peak timing shifted increasingly towards the end of the year the colder the annual average temperature was. These findings prompted me to investigate the temperature-sensitivity of P. irritans, an often hypothesized but hardly studied potential plague vector. As I have shown in **paper II**, the lifespan of *P*. *irritans* is also longest at ~16°C, and the reproduction rate started to increase dramatically in this range. The modelled seasonality of the human flea coincided also with the human plague mortality for outbreaks in the temperate climate zone and in Egypt. Because the temperature threshold that is beneficial for flea growth was attained earlier in the year in warmer places, the flea abundance also peaked earlier. As I have shown in **paper III**, the invasion potential for plague in London was a direct function of the vector-to-host ratio, which in turn was a function of the temperature (paper II). In warmer places, the temperature stayed above the threshold and in a favourable range for longer, and thus the vector-to-host ratio was generally larger (paper II). The observation that plague seasonality was more consistent in Central and Northern Europe than in the Mediterranean (paper I) may thus be a direct effect of the length of the window with the optimal vector-to-host ratio needed for transmission. Outside the periods of favourable temperatures (and thus outside plague season), transmission would not occur because the number of vectors available was too low. Anecdotes from the second pandemic report that people who returned to their houses after a plague epidemic and would sleep in the beds of plague victims, but would not become sick as long as the plague season was over [84]. In paper III I predicted the peak in the fleas to occur ten weeks before the peak in plague mortality, which is inconsistent with the results from paper II, where I predicted the fleas to peak simultaneously with plague mortality. As discussed in **paper III**, there are several possible explanations for this discrepancy, including biased entomological data, modelling assumptions that are too simplistic, and the influence of factors other than the environmental forcing on the vector.

Other factors that influence seasonality

Besides the temperature-dependent seasonality of the human flea, other factors could have potentially played a role in shaping the seasonality of second pandemic outbreaks.

Pre-existing immunity can influence the dynamics and determine how an epidemic grows and declines. As I show with my model in **paper III**, the best fit to replicate the periodic plague mortality was obtained with a distinct seasonal fluctuation of the fleas. This suggests that the fluctuations of the susceptible humans alone due to the immunity and demographic process are not sufficient to explain plague seasonality. The estimated proportion of the population that was infected could range from a few percentages to the whole population (paper I). Interestingly, these attack rates declined non-linearly with the population size. In very large populations such as London in the 17th century, the proportion infected may have never surpassed 30% based on the collected data (not considering underreporting of deaths). Assuming a basic reproduction number of 1.5 to 2 [123] and homogeneous mixing, a minimum of 33% to 50% of the population would be required to be immune in order to reach the herd immunity threshold. Given the high case fatality, large populations were unlikely to attain a level of herd immunity that would lead to an epidemic decline. Small populations may have reached herd immunity temporarily, but population turnover due to natural deaths and births as well as immigration would compensate rapidly for the loss of susceptibles. Overall, population immunity may have played a role in some settings, which needs to be studied further. However, the theory that the second pandemic declined because of full population immunity in Europe is highly implausible [172].

Changes in human behaviour and thus contact rates due to mitigation measures or fleeing of people are well known and described for historical outbreaks during the second pandemic [78, 173]. In fact, the now famous concept of the quarantine was implemented in the 14th century following the Black Death period [174]. The word is derived from the Italian word for "40", which refers to the 40 days, during which incoming travellers with suspected plague had to isolate themselves from the population. As shown in **paper IV**, "quarantine" is among the most frequently discussed topics related to plague transmission in historical sources. Other measures included the isolation of cases in "Pesthouses" and the fumigation and disinfection of objects and dwellings [78]. However, it is unclear, how effective these measures were and what the effect on the plague seasonality was. Quarantine and isolation may be effective at the beginning of an outbreak when case number

are manageable, and the early implementation must have prevented some outbreaks from growing into large epidemics. However, many of the outbreaks studied in paper I were quite large, and the systematic and successful separation of infectious and susceptible agents (hosts or vectors) at this scale seems unlikely. As observed during the COVID19 pandemic in 2020, the systematic implementation of control measures is challenging even in the 21st century with modern means of communication and improved knowledge about pathogens. Also, the connection of plague and fleas was discovered only a century ago [107], and historical control measures were thus not very targeted. In the case of London, but also other places with recurrent outbreaks and a distinct seasonality (see **paper I**), a consistent implementation of control measures that would lead to a similar peak timing and epidemic shape every year seems unlikely. Anecdotal evidence for the predominance of factors other than control measures also comes from rodent-borne outbreaks in Malta, where transmission usually ended independently of whether measures to kill the rats or their fleas were taken or not [175]. Due to a lack of good data, I have not considered the effect of control measures in the model in paper III. However, future models will ideally address both aspects to confirm the effect of the flea seasonality on plague while controlling for the effects of mitigation measures.

Finally, seasonal changes in human behaviour could have contributed to the spread of plague. Seasonal plague incidence due to seasonal harvesting activities has been observed in several regions with active foci plague [176-178]. However, in the alternative transmission framework of human ectoparasites, this effect is less relevant for the growth of an epidemic and may only have played a role for disease introduction into the human population. However, this would require the presence of plague foci in pre-industrial Europe, which is controversial (see introduction). In the case of pneumonic plague, crowding and poor ventilation may occasionally lead to large pneumonic outbreaks, but this seems to be a rare event [22, 23]. Indoor crowding during winter may have led to an increase in the rate of successful, infectious contacts between humans directly. However, as shown in **paper I**, winter was not the predominant plague season in many places, and the contribution of pneumonic plague was estimated to be as low as 30% (**paper III**), which is consistent with modern outbreaks.

Further evidence for human ectoparasites

In **paper IV**, I have investigated the qualitative aspects of plague narratives by extracting word associations in a plague treatise published in 1908 [78]. One of the findings of paper IV was that the discussion of clothes and bedding in the context of transmission featured prominently throughout the book and epochs. This

phenomenon is indicative of ectoparasites residing in clothes, beds or equipment. Until the early 20^{th} century, the infestation of dwellings with fleas was not uncommon [105]. In Norway, beds were humorously called "flea boxes" [88]. Not all domestic fleas might have been *P. irritans*, but the human flea was often the predominant species in flea infested households [34, 38, 40, 114]. Clothes had also been recognized as a source of transmission already at the beginning of the third pandemic in India [179]. During a plague outbreak in Java at the beginning of the 20^{th} century, the clothes and bags of almost 57,000 persons were disinfested, and several hundred human fleas were found but only a handful of *X. cheopis* [114, 180]. All these observations suggest that human ectoparasites played a part in historical plague transmission.

The second plague pandemic was not exclusively a European, but rather a Eurasian-African phenomenon [181-183], which is also confirmed in **paper IV** with the (re-)digitization of two plague treatises. The large spatio-temporal extent and the occurrence in many different climate zones demands a critical investigation into the drivers and routes of transmission beyond the traditional narrative of the black rat and the oriental flea. The findings that temperature may partially drive plague transmission (**paper I**), that the human flea shows a similar seasonal behaviour as plague mortality (**paper II**) and that seasonal plague transmission is possible when the seasonal vector-to-host ratio is above a certain threshold (**paper III**) provides further evidence in favour of the human ectoparasites transmission framework for the second pandemic.

A proposal of the mechanism of historical plague transmission

How do human ectoparasites fit in the grand scheme of the second plague pandemic plague? The spillover of plague from an animal reservoir is commonly believed to occur through rodent fleas. However, *P. irritans* is also known to feed on various mammals including rats [184], albeit reluctantly [46]. Once the disease was introduced into the human population near a plague focus (either through rodent or human fleas), transmission between humans could have occurred through a mix of human fleas, rodent fleas and pneumonic transmission. Human fleas are mostly confined to a household, and thus the dispersal within a town was likely due to passive transport in clothes or other fabric, or belongings from a deceased person. For places far away from plague foci, trade activities were crucial for the disease introduction. Specific commodities, including clothes, other fabric, grain but also fur [9] infested with both human or rodent fleas were an optimal vehicle for long-distance dissemination [78]. Rodents on board of ships could maintain the cycle and keep the fleas alive. Once infested commodities arrived in Europe, the rodent or human fleas could potentially infect humans who came in contact with

merchandise. The subsequent development of local outbreaks would be possible if the local population of human fleas that infested the human population was large enough to spread the disease further. If the lifespan of the human fleas was long enough, long-distance trade within Europe could have further disseminated plague through the flea, without ever infecting a local rodent population or seeding a new reservoir.

Perspectives

This thesis has shed some light on the circumstances of the second plague pandemic and the potential contribution of human fleas. However, many questions are still unanswered. The life cycle of the human flea under varying meteorological conditions could be investigated with more systematic entomological studies. Moreover, experimental studies on the transmission probability from human fleas to mammal hosts and vice versa, as well as the level of septicaemia required for transmission could clarify whether human fleas are indeed suitable vectors. These insights can be used to parametrize an entomological-epidemiological transmission model that combines the approaches in paper II and paper III. Given the sparsity of true epidemiological data for historical plague, the usefulness of surrogate or proxy data to infer the epidemiological curves should be investigated further. Particularly the agreement of wills data with plague mortality in terms of growth rates and peak timing must be quantified given that their use has gained popularity in historical epidemiology. Finally, the question of the plague reservoirs in Europe, which is also linked to the question of the vector, should be studied further. This requires a good knowledge of where and when outbreaks occurred. The datasets I have provided in this thesis could be supplemented with additional data from selected regions particularly in eastern Europe, the Levant and western Asia. Such a dataset could provide some additional insight into where the reservoirs closest to Europe were, and how trade activities linked them to the spatio-temporal pattern we observed.

Acknowledgements

I thank Katharine R. Dean, Franziska Franeck and Hildegunn Viljugrein for proofreading this thesis.

Bibliography

- 1. World Health Organization. WHO report on global surveillance of epidemic-prone infectious diseases. Chapter 3. Plague. 2000.
- 2. Perry RD, Fetherston JD. Yersinia pestis--etiologic agent of plague. Clin Microbiol Rev. 1997;10(1):35-66. doi:10.1128/CMR.10.1.35-66.1997.
- 3. Inglesby TV, Dennis DT, Henderson DA, Bartlett JG, Ascher MS, Eitzen E, et al. Plague as a biological weapon: medical and public health management. Working Group on Civilian Biodefense. JAMA. 2000;283(17):2281-90. doi:10.1001/jama.283.17.2281.
- 4. Atkinson S, Williams P. Yersinia virulence factors a sophisticated arsenal for combating host defences. F1000Res. 2016;5 doi:10.12688/f1000research.8466.1.
- 5. Demeure CE, Dussurget O, Mas Fiol G, Le Guern AS, Savin C, Pizarro-Cerda J. Yersinia pestis and plague: an updated view on evolution, virulence determinants, immune subversion, vaccination, and diagnostics. Genes Immun. 2019;20(5):357-70. doi:10.1038/s41435-019-0065-0.
- 6. Hinnebusch BJ, Rudolph AE, Cherepanov P, Dixon JE, Schwan TG, Forsberg A. Role of Yersinia murine toxin in survival of Yersinia pestis in the midgut of the flea vector. Science. 2002;296(5568):733-5. doi:10.1126/science.1069972.
- 7. Spyrou MA, Tukhbatova RI, Feldman M, Drath J, Kacki S, Beltran de Heredia J, et al. Historical Y. pestis Genomes Reveal the European Black Death as the Source of Ancient and Modern Plague Pandemics. Cell Host Microbe. 2016;19(6):874-81. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2016.05.012.
- 8. Chouikha I, Hinnebusch BJ. Silencing urease: a key evolutionary step that facilitated the adaptation of Yersinia pestis to the flea-borne transmission route. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2014;111(52):18709-14. doi:10.1073/pnas.1413209111.
- Namouchi A, Guellil M, Kersten O, Hansch S, Ottoni C, Schmid BV, et al. Integrative approach using Yersinia pestis genomes to revisit the historical landscape of plague during the Medieval Period. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2018;115(50):E11790-E7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1812865115.
- 10. Arbaji A, Kharabsheh S, Al-Azab S, Al-Kayed M, Amr ZS, Abu Baker M, et al. A 12-case outbreak of pharyngeal plague following the consumption of camel meat, in north-eastern Jordan. Ann Trop Med Parasitol. 2005;99(8):789-93. doi:10.1179/136485905X65161.
- 11. Kugeler KJ, Staples JE, Hinckley AF, Gage KL, Mead PS. Epidemiology of human plague in the United States, 1900-2012. Emerging infectious diseases. 2015;21(1):16-22. doi:10.3201/eid2101.140564.
- 12. Migliani R, Chanteau S, Rahalison L, Ratsitorahina M, Boutin JP, Ratsifasoamanana L, et al. Epidemiological trends for human plague in Madagascar during the second half of the 20th century: a survey of 20,900 notified cases. Trop Med Int Health. 2006;11(8):1228-37. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3156.2006.01677.x.

- 13. Du Z, Wang X. Pathology and Pathogenesis of Yersinia pestis. Advances in experimental medicine and biology. 2016;918:193-222. doi:10.1007/978-94-024-0890-4_7.
- 14. Pollitzer R. Plague. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1954.
- 15. Butler T. Plague and Other Yersinia Infections. New York: Springer; 1983.
- 16. Butler T, Bell WR, Nguyen Ngoc L, Nguyen Dinh T, Arnold K. Yersinia pestis infection in Vietnam. I. Clinical and hematologic aspects. The Journal of infectious diseases. 1974;129(Supplement 1):Suppl:S78-84. doi:10.1093/infdis/129.supplement_1.s78.
- 17. The Advisory Committee Appointed by the Secretary of State for India. IX. On the quantitative estimation of the septicaemia in human plague. J Hyg (Lond). 1906;6(4):524-9. doi:10.1017/s0022172400003120.
- 18. The Advisory Committee Appointed by the Secretary of State for India. XXVIII. Additional experiments on the septicaemia in human plague, with an account of experiments on the infectivity of the excreta. J Hyg (Lond). 1908;8(2):221-35. doi:10.1017/s0022172400003284.
- 19. Dennis DT, Gage KL, Gratz N, Poland JD, Tikhonov I. Plague manual: epidemiology, distribution, surveillance and control. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1999.
- 20. Kool JL. Risk of person-to-person transmission of pneumonic plague. Clin Infect Dis. 2005;40(8):1166-72. doi:10.1086/428617.
- 21. Gani R, Leach S. Epidemiologic determinants for modeling pneumonic plague outbreaks. Emerging infectious diseases. 2004;10(4):608-14. doi:10.3201/eid1004.030509.
- 22. Nishiura H. Epidemiology of a primary pneumonic plague in Kantoshu, Manchuria, from 1910 to 1911: statistical analysis of individual records collected by the Japanese Empire. International journal of epidemiology. 2006;35(4):1059-65. doi:10.1093/ije/dyl091.
- 23. Nguyen VK, Parra-Rojas C, Hernandez-Vargas EA. The 2017 plague outbreak in Madagascar: Data descriptions and epidemic modelling. Epidemics. 2018;25:20-5. doi:10.1016/j.epidem.2018.05.001.
- 24. Mead PS. Yersinia Species (Including Plague). In: Bennett JE, Dolin R, Blaser MJ, editors. Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases (Eighth Edition). Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2015. p. 2607-18.
- 25. Gage KL, Kosoy MY. Natural history of plague: perspectives from more than a century of research. Annu Rev Entomol. 2005;50:505-28. doi:10.1146/annurev.ento.50.071803.130337.
- 26. Zeppelini CG, de Almeida AM, Cordeiro-Estrela P. Zoonoses As Ecological Entities: A Case Review of Plague. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10(10):e0004949. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004949.
- 27. Ben-Ari T, Neerinckx S, Gage KL, Kreppel K, Laudisoit A, Leirs H, et al. Plague and climate: scales matter. PLoS Pathog. 2011;7(9):e1002160. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002160.

- 28. Gage KL. Factors affecting the spread and maintenance of plague. Advances in experimental medicine and biology. 2012;954:79-94. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-3561-7_11.
- 29. Eisen RJ, Eisen L, Gage KL. Studies of vector competency and efficiency of North American fleas for Yersinia pestis: state of the field and future research needs. Journal of medical entomology. 2009;46(4):737-44. doi:10.1603/033.046.0403.
- 30. Samia NI, Kausrud KL, Heesterbeek H, Ageyev V, Begon M, Chan KS, et al. Dynamics of the plague-wildlife-human system in Central Asia are controlled by two epidemiological thresholds. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2011;108(35):14527-32. doi:10.1073/pnas.1015946108.
- 31. de Almeida AMP, Leal NC. Advances in Yersinia Research. New York: Springer; 2012.
- 32. Sousa LLF, Alencar CHM, Almeida AMP, Cavalcanti LPG. Seroprevalence and spatial distribution dynamics of Yersinia pestis antibodies in dogs and cats from plague foci in the State of Ceara, Northeastern Brazil. Revista da Sociedade Brasileira de Medicina Tropical. 2017;50(6):769-76. doi:10.1590/0037-8682-0278-2017.
- 33. Malek MA, Bitam I, Drancourt M. Plague in Arab Maghreb, 1940-2015: A Review. Frontiers in public health. 2016;4:112. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2016.00112.
- 34. Blanc G, Baltazard M. Rôle des ectoparasites humains dans la transmission de la peste. Bull Acad Natl Med. 1942;126:446-8.
- 35. Girard G. Plague. Annu Rev Microbiol. 1955;9:253-76. doi:10.1146/annurev.mi.09.100155.001345.
- 36. Drancourt M, Houhamdi L, Raoult D. Yersinia pestis as a telluric, human ectoparasite-borne organism. Lancet Infect Dis. 2006;6(4):234-41. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(06)70438-8.
- 37. Ell SR. Some Evidence for Interhuman Transmission of Medieval Plague. Reviews of Infectious Diseases. 1979;1(3):563-6.
- 38. Laudisoit A, Leirs H, Makundi RH, Van Dongen S, Davis S, Neerinckx S, et al. Plague and the human flea, Tanzania. Emerging infectious diseases. 2007;13(5):687-93. doi:10.3201/eid1305.061084.
- 39. Arrieta T M, Soto Z R, Gonzáles R R, Nombera C J, Holguín M C, Monje C J. Características de la población de roedores y pulgas en áreas de diferente riesgo para peste de tres provincias del departamento de Piura-Perú. Revista Peruana de Medicina Experimental y Salud Publica. 2001;18:90-7.
- 40. Long JD. Bubonic Plague on the West Coast of South America in 1934. Public Health Reports (1896-1970). 1935;50(29):923-32. doi:10.2307/4581592.
- 41. Ratovonjato J, Rajerison M, Rahelinirina S, Boyer S. Yersinia pestis in Pulex irritans fleas during plague outbreak, Madagascar. Emerging infectious diseases. 2014;20(8):1414-5. doi:10.3201/eid2008.130629.

- 42. Blanc G, Baltazard M. Recherches expérimentales sur la peste. L'infection de la puce de l'homme: Pulex irritans L. C R Acad Sci. 1941;213(22):813-6.
- 43. Blanc G, Baltazard M. Recherches sur le mode de transmission naturelle de la peste bubonique et septicémique. Arch Inst Pasteur Maroc. 1945;3(5):173-348.
- 44. Blanc G. Une opinion non conformiste sur le mode de transmission de la peste. Rev Hyg Med Soc. 1956;4(6):535-62.
- 45. Verjbitski DT. XXVI. The part played by insects in the epidemiology of plague. J Hyg (Lond). 1908;8(2):162-208. doi:10.1017/s0022172400003260.
- 46. Burroughs AL. Sylvatic plague studies: The vector efficiency of nine species of fleas compared with Xenopsylla cheopis. J Hyg (Lond). 1947;45(3):371-96. doi:10.1017/s0022172400014042.
- 47. Bacot AW, Martin CJ. LXVII. Observations on the mechanism of the transmission of plague by fleas. J Hyg (Lond). 1914;13(Suppl):423-39.
- 48. Hinnebusch BJ. Biofilm-dependent and biofilm-independent mechanisms of transmission of Yersinia pestis by fleas. Advances in experimental medicine and biology. 2012;954:237-43. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-3561-7_30.
- 49. Eisen RJ, Bearden SW, Wilder AP, Montenieri JA, Antolin MF, Gage KL. Early-phase transmission of Yersinia pestis by unblocked fleas as a mechanism explaining rapidly spreading plague epizootics. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2006;103(42):15380-5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0606831103.
- 50. Eisen RJ, Wilder AP, Bearden SW, Montenieri JA, Gage KL. Early-phase transmission of Yersinia pestis by unblocked Xenopsylla cheopis (Siphonaptera: Pulicidae) is as efficient as transmission by blocked fleas. Journal of medical entomology. 2007;44(4):678-82. doi:10.1603/0022-2585(2007)44[678:etoypb]2.0.co;2.
- 51. Wilder AP, Eisen RJ, Bearden SW, Montenieri JA, Tripp DW, Brinkerhoff RJ, et al. Transmission efficiency of two flea species (Oropsylla tuberculata cynomuris and Oropsylla hirsuta) involved in plague epizootics among prairie dogs. EcoHealth. 2008;5(2):205-12. doi:10.1007/s10393-008-0165-1.
- 52. Bland DM, Jarrett CO, Bosio CF, Hinnebusch BJ. Infectious blood source alters early foregut infection and regurgitative transmission of Yersinia pestis by rodent fleas. PLoS Pathog. 2018;14(1):e1006859. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1006859.
- 53. Metzger ME, Rust MK. Effect of temperature on cat flea (Siphonaptera:Pulicidae) development and overwintering. Journal of medical entomology. 1997;34(2):173-8. doi:10.1093/jmedent/34.2.173.
- 54. Bacot A. LXIX. A study of the bionomics of the common rat fleas and other species associated with human habitations, with special reference to the influence of temperature and humidity at various periods of the life history of the insect. J Hyg (Lond). 1914;13(Suppl):447-654 15.
- 55. Margalit J, Shulov AS. Effect of temperature on the development of prepupa and pupa of the rat flea, Xenopsylla cheopis Rothschild. Journal of medical entomology. 1972;9(2):117-25. doi:10.1093/jmedent/9.2.117.

- 56. Kreppel KS, Telfer S, Rajerison M, Morse A, Baylis M. Effect of temperature and relative humidity on the development times and survival of Synopsyllus fonquerniei and Xenopsylla cheopis, the flea vectors of plague in Madagascar. Parasites & vectors. 2016;9:82. doi:10.1186/s13071-016-1366-z.
- 57. Stenseth NC, Samia NI, Viljugrein H, Kausrud KL, Begon M, Davis S, et al. Plague dynamics are driven by climate variation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2006;103(35):13110-5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0602447103.
- 58. Parmenter RR, Yadav EP, Parmenter CA, Ettestad P, Gage KL. Incidence of plague associated with increased winter-spring precipitation in New Mexico. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene. 1999;61(5):814-21. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.1999.61.814.
- 59. Collinge SK, Johnson WC, Ray C, Matchett R, Grensten J, Cully JF, et al. Testing the Generality of a Trophic-cascade Model for Plague. EcoHealth. 2005;2(2):102-12. doi:10.1007/s10393-005-3877-5.
- 60. Xu L, Schmid BV, Liu J, Si X, Stenseth NC, Zhang Z. The trophic responses of two different rodent-vector-plague systems to climate change. Proc Biol Sci. 2015;282(1800):20141846. doi:10.1098/rspb.2014.1846.
- 61. Xu L, Liu Q, Stige LC, Ben Ari T, Fang X, Chan KS, et al. Nonlinear effect of climate on plague during the third pandemic in China. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2011;108(25):10214-9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1019486108.
- 62. Ari TB, Gershunov A, Tristan R, Cazelles B, Gage K, Stenseth NC. Interannual variability of human plague occurrence in the Western United States explained by tropical and North Pacific Ocean climate variability. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene. 2010;83(3):624-32. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.2010.09-0775.
- 63. Kreppel KS, Caminade C, Telfer S, Rajerison M, Rahalison L, Morse A, et al. A non-stationary relationship between global climate phenomena and human plague incidence in Madagascar. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2014;8(10):e3155. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0003155.
- 64. Debien A, Neerinckx S, Kimaro D, Gulinck H. Influence of satellitederived rainfall patterns on plague occurrence in northeast Tanzania. International journal of health geographics. 2010;9:60. doi:10.1186/1476-072X-9-60.
- 65. Giorgi E, Kreppel K, Diggle PJ, Caminade C, Ratsitorahina M, Rajerison M, et al. Modeling of spatio-temporal variation in plague incidence in Madagascar from 1980 to 2007. Spat Spatiotemporal Epidemiol. 2016;19:125-35. doi:10.1016/j.sste.2016.10.001.
- 66. Cavanaugh DC, Marshall JD, Jr. The influence of climate on the seasonal prevalence of plague in the Republic of Vietnam. J Wildl Dis. 1972;8(1):85-94. doi:10.7589/0090-3558-8.1.85.
- 67. Pham HV, Dang DT, Tran Minh NN, Nguyen ND, Nguyen TV. Correlates of environmental factors and human plague: an ecological study in Vietnam.

International journal of epidemiology. 2009;38(6):1634-41. doi:10.1093/ije/dyp244.

- 68. Tennant WSD, Tildesley MJ, Spencer SEF, Keeling MJ. Climate drivers of plague epidemiology in British India, 1898-1949. Proc Biol Sci. 2020;287(1928):20200538. doi:10.1098/rspb.2020.0538.
- 69. Abedi AA, Shako JC, Gaudart J, Sudre B, Ilunga BK, Shamamba SKB, et al. Ecologic Features of Plague Outbreak Areas, Democratic Republic of the Congo, 2004-2014. Emerging infectious diseases. 2018;24(2):210-20. doi:10.3201/eid2402.160122.
- 70. Harper K. The Fate of Rome: Climate, Disease, and the End of an Empire. Princeton: Princeton University Press; 2017.
- 71. Feldman M, Harbeck M, Keller M, Spyrou MA, Rott A, Trautmann B, et al. A High-Coverage Yersinia pestis Genome from a Sixth-Century Justinianic Plague Victim. Mol Biol Evol. 2016;33(11):2911-23. doi:10.1093/molbev/msw170.
- 72. Harbeck M, Seifert L, Hansch S, Wagner DM, Birdsell D, Parise KL, et al. Yersinia pestis DNA from skeletal remains from the 6(th) century AD reveals insights into Justinianic Plague. PLoS Pathog. 2013;9(5):e1003349. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003349.
- 73. Keller M, Spyrou MA, Scheib CL, Neumann GU, Kropelin A, Haas-Gebhard B, et al. Ancient Yersinia pestis genomes from across Western Europe reveal early diversification during the First Pandemic (541-750). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2019;116(25):12363-72. doi:10.1073/pnas.1820447116.
- 74. Mordechai L, Eisenberg M, Newfield TP, Izdebski A, Kay JE, Poinar H. The Justinianic Plague: An inconsequential pandemic? Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2019;116(51):25546-54. doi:10.1073/pnas.1903797116.
- 75. Eroshenko GA, Nosov NY, Krasnov YM, Oglodin YG, Kukleva LM, Guseva NP, et al. Yersinia pestis strains of ancient phylogenetic branch 0.ANT are widely spread in the high-mountain plague foci of Kyrgyzstan. PloS one. 2017;12(10):e0187230. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0187230.
- 76. Benedictow OJ. The Black Death 1346-1353: The Complete History. Woodbridge: The Boydell Press; 2006.
- 77. Wheelis M. Biological warfare at the 1346 siege of Caffa. Emerging infectious diseases. 2002;8(9):971-5. doi:10.3201/eid0809.010536.
- 78. Sticker G. Abhandlungen aus der Seuchengeschichte und Seuchenlehre. Band 1: Die Pest. Giessen: A. Töpelmann; 1908.
- 79. Christakos G, Olea R, Serre M, Yu H, Wang L. Interdisciplinary Public Health Reasoning and Epidemic Modelling: The Case of Black Death. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2005.
- 80. Biraben J-N. Les hommes et la peste en France et dans les pays européens et méditerranéens. Paris: Mouton; 1975.
- 81. Noble JV. Geographic and temporal development of plagues. Nature. 1974;250(5469):726-9. doi:10.1038/250726a0.

- 82. Shrewsbury JFD. A History of Bubonic Plague in the British Isles. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1970.
- 83. Creighton C. A history of epidemics in Britain. 2nd ed. Eversley DEC, editor. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1891.
- 84. Simpson WJ. A treatise on plague. Dealing with the historical, epidemiological, clinical, therapeutic and preventive aspects of the disease. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1905.
- 85. Cohn SK. The black death transformed : disease and culture in early Renaissance Europe. London: Arnold; 2002.
- 86. Twigg G. The Black Death : a biological reappraisal. London: Batsford; 1984.
- 87. Scott S, Duncan CJ. Biology of Plagues. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2009.
- 88. Benedictow OJ. What Disease was Plague? On the Controversy Over the Microbiological Identity of Plague Epidemics of the Past. Leiden, Boston: Brill; 2010.
- 89. Walloe L. Medieval and modern bubonic plague: some clinical continuities. Med Hist Suppl. 2008(27):59-73.
- 90. Bos KI, Schuenemann VJ, Golding GB, Burbano HA, Waglechner N, Coombes BK, et al. A draft genome of Yersinia pestis from victims of the Black Death. Nature. 2011;478(7370):506-10. doi:10.1038/nature10549.
- 91. Spyrou MA, Keller M, Tukhbatova RI, Scheib CL, Nelson EA, Andrades Valtuena A, et al. Phylogeography of the second plague pandemic revealed through analysis of historical Yersinia pestis genomes. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):4470. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-12154-0.
- 92. Bos KI, Herbig A, Sahl J, Waglechner N, Fourment M, Forrest SA, et al. Eighteenth century Yersinia pestis genomes reveal the long-term persistence of an historical plague focus. Elife. 2016;5:e12994. doi:10.7554/eLife.12994.
- 93. Carmichael AG. Plague persistance in Western Europe: a hypothesis. The Medieval Globe. 2014;1:157-91.
- 94. Schmid BV, Buntgen U, Easterday WR, Ginzler C, Walloe L, Bramanti B, et al. Climate-driven introduction of the Black Death and successive plague reintroductions into Europe. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2015;112(10):3020-5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1412887112.
- 95. Davis DE. The Scarcity of Rats and the Black Death: An Ecological History. Journal of Interdisciplinary History. 1986;16(3):455-70. doi:10.2307/204499.
- 96. Yue RP, Lee HF, Wu CY. Navigable rivers facilitated the spread and recurrence of plague in pre-industrial Europe. Sci Rep. 2016;6:34867. doi:10.1038/srep34867.
- 97. Yue RPH, Lee HF, Wu CYH. Trade routes and plague transmission in preindustrial Europe. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):12973. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-13481-2.

- 98. Gomez JM, Verdu M. Network theory may explain the vulnerability of medieval human settlements to the Black Death pandemic. Sci Rep. 2017;7:43467. doi:10.1038/srep43467.
- 99. Yue RPH, Lee HF. Pre-industrial plague transmission is mediated by the synergistic effect of temperature and aridity index. BMC infectious diseases. 2018;18(1):134. doi:10.1186/s12879-018-3045-5.
- 100. Yue RPH, Lee HF. Drought-induced spatio-temporal synchrony of plague outbreak in Europe. Sci Total Environ. 2020;698(1879-1026 (Electronic)):134138. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134138.
- 101. Haensch S, Bianucci R, Signoli M, Rajerison M, Schultz M, Kacki S, et al. Distinct clones of Yersinia pestis caused the black death. PLoS Pathog. 2010;6(10):e1001134. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001134.
- 102. Seifert L, Wiechmann I, Harbeck M, Thomas A, Grupe G, Projahn M, et al. Genotyping Yersinia pestis in Historical Plague: Evidence for Long-Term Persistence of Y. pestis in Europe from the 14th to the 17th Century. PloS one. 2016;11(1):e0145194. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0145194.
- 103. Keeling MJ, Gilligan CA. Metapopulation dynamics of bubonic plague. Nature. 2000;407(6806):903-6. doi:10.1038/35038073.
- 104. Bramanti B, Stenseth NC, Walløe L, Lei X. Plague: A Disease Which Changed the Path of Human Civilization. In: Yang R, Anisimov A, editors. Yersinia pestis: Retrospective and Perspective. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands; 2016. p. 1-26.
- 105. Bramanti B, Dean KR, Walloe L, Chr Stenseth N. The Third Plague Pandemic in Europe. Proc Biol Sci. 2019;286(1901):20182429. doi:10.1098/rspb.2018.2429.
- 106. Yersin A. La peste bubonique à Hong-Kong. Annales de l'Institut Pasteur. 1894;8:662-7.
- 107. Simond PL. La propagation de la peste. Annales de l'Institut Pasteur. 1898;12:625-87.
- 108. Eckert EA. Seasonality of plague in early modern Europe: Swiss epidemic of 1628--1630. Rev Infect Dis. 1980;2(6):952-9. doi:10.1093/clinids/2.6.952.
- 109. Carmichael AG. Plague legislation in the Italian Renaissance. Bull Hist Med. 1983;57(4):508-25.
- 110. Welford MR, Bossak BH. Validation of inverse seasonal peak mortality in medieval plagues, including the Black Death, in comparison to modern Yersinia pestis-variant diseases. PloS one. 2009;4(12):e8401. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008401.
- 111. Bless PJ, Schmutz C, Suter K, Jost M, Hattendorf J, Mausezahl-Feuz M, et al. A tradition and an epidemic: determinants of the campylobacteriosis winter peak in Switzerland. Eur J Epidemiol. 2014;29(7):527-37. doi:10.1007/s10654-014-9917-0.
- 112. Martinez ME. The calendar of epidemics: Seasonal cycles of infectious diseases. PLoS Pathog. 2018;14(11):e1007327. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1007327.

- 113. Altizer S, Dobson A, Hosseini P, Hudson P, Pascual M, Rohani P. Seasonality and the dynamics of infectious diseases. Ecology letters. 2006;9(4):467-84. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00879.x.
- 114. Hirst LF. The conquest of plague; a study of the evolution of epidemiology. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 1953.
- Rodenwaldt E. Pest in Venedig 1575 1577. Ein Beitrag zur Frage der Infektkette bei den Pestepidemien West-Europas. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 1953.
- 116. Tricot-Royer P. Peste ancienne et peste actuelle. Scalpel (Brux). 1950;103(47):1179-88.
- 117. Hufthammer AK, Walløe L. Rats cannot have been intermediate hosts for Yersinia pestis during medieval plague epidemics in Northern Europe. Journal of Archaeological Science. 2013;40(4):1752-9. doi:10.1016/j.jas.2012.12.007.
- 118. Russell H. The Flea. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1913.
- 119. Yvinec JH, Ponel P, Beaucournu JC. Premiers apports archéoentomologiques de l'étude des Puces, Aspects historiques et anthropologiques (Siphonaptera). Bull Soc Ent Fr. 2000;105:419–25.
- 120. Hall AR, Kenward HK. Biological evidence from Anglo-Scandinavian deposits at 16-22 Coppergate. London: York Archaeological Trust; 1995.
- 121. Schelvis J. Caught between the teeth. A review of Dutch finds of archaeological remains of ectoparasites in combs. Proceedings of the Section on Experimental and Applied Entomology of the Netherlands Entomological Society. 1994;5
- 122. Panagiotakopulu E, Buckland PC, Wickler S. Is there anybody in there? Entomological evidence from a boat burial at Oksnes in Vesteralen, northern Norway. PloS one. 2018;13(7):e0200545. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0200545.
- 123. Dean KR, Krauer F, Walloe L, Lingjaerde OC, Bramanti B, Stenseth NC, et al. Human ectoparasites and the spread of plague in Europe during the Second Pandemic. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2018;115(6):1304-9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1715640115.
- 124. Karlsson G. Plague without rats: The case of fifteenth-century Iceland. Journal of Medieval History. 2012;22(3):263-84. doi:10.1016/s0304-4181(96)00017-6.
- 125. Morris C. The Plague in Britain. The Historical Journal. 1971;14(1):205-15.
- 126. Earn DJD, Ma J, Poinar H, Dushoff J, Bolker BM. Acceleration of plague outbreaks in the second pandemic. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2020 doi:10.1073/pnas.2004904117.
- 127. Farrar R. Plague in Manchuria. Proc R Soc Med. 1912;5(Sect Epidemiol State Med):1-24.
- 128. LaForce FM, Acharya IL, Stott G, Brachman PS, Kaufman AF, Clapp RF, et al. Clinical and epidemiological observations on an outbreak of plague in Nepal. Bull World Health Organ. 1971;45(6):693-706.

- 129. Hecker JFC. Die grossen Volkskrankheiten des Mittelalters: Historischpathologische Untersuchungen. Gesammelt und in erweiterter Bearbeitung. Hirsch A, editor. Berlin: Enslin; 1865.
- 130. Bossak BH, Welford M. Spatio-temporal characteristics of the medieval Black Death. In: Kanaroglou P, Delmelle E, editors. Spatial Analysis in Health Geography. London: Routledge; 2015. p. 71-83.
- Carpentier E. Autour de la peste noire : Famines et épidémies dans l'histoire du xive siècle. Annales Histoire, Sciences Sociales. 2017;17(6):1062-92. doi:10.3406/ahess.1962.420916.
- 132. Eckert EA. The retreat of plague from Central Europe, 1640-1720: a geomedical approach. Bull Hist Med. 2000;74(1):1-28. doi:10.1353/bhm.2000.0015.
- 133. Mengel DC. A plague on Bohemia? Mapping the Black Death. Past Present. 2011;211(1):3-34. doi:10.1093/pastj/gtq069.
- 134.Roosen J, Curtis DR. Dangers of Noncritical Use of Historical Plague Data.Emerginginfectiousdiseases.2018;24(1):103-10.doi:10.3201/eid2401.170477.
- 135. Green M, Roosen J. Biraben 2.0: A Black Death Digital Archive. Available from: <u>https://www.radcliffe.harvard.edu/seminars-and-workshops/biraben-black-death-digital-archive</u>. [Accessed Oct 16, 2020].
- 136. van Bavel BJP, Curtis DR, Hannaford MJ, Moatsos M, Roosen J, Soens T. Climate and society in long-term perspective: Opportunities and pitfalls in the use of historical datasets. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Clim Change. 2019;10(6):e611. doi:10.1002/wcc.611.
- 137. Benedictow OJ. Biraben's lists of the plague epidemics of the second plague pandemic, 1346 c. 1690: problems, basis, uses. Annales de démographie historique. 2019;n°138(2):213-23. doi:10.3917/adh.138.0213.
- 138. Morris C, Petty W, Graunt J, Birch T. A Collection of the yearly bills of mortality, from 1657 to 1758 inclusive. Together with several other bills of an earlier date. London: A. Millar; 1759.
- 139. Angus J. Old and New Bills of Mortality; Movement of the Population; Deaths and Fatal Diseases in London During the Last Fourteen Years. Journal of the Statistical Society of London. 1854;17(2):117-42. doi:10.2307/2338271.
- Ogle W. An Inquiry into the Trustworthiness of the Old Bills of Mortality. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. 1892;55(3):437-60. doi:10.2307/2979466.
- 141. Cummins N, Kelly M, Ó Gráda C. Living standards and plague in London, 1560-1665. The Economic History Review. 2016;69(1):3-34. doi:10.1111/ehr.12098.
- 142. Ferrán i Clua J, Viñas y Cusí F, de Grau CR. La Peste Bubónica: memoria sobre la epidemia ocurrida en Porto en 1899. Barcelona: Typografia Sucesor F. Sanchez; 1907.
- 143. Smith RS. Barcelona "Bills of Mortality" and Population, 1457-1590. Journal of Political Economy. 1936;44(1):84-93.

- 144. Carmichael AG. Plague and the poor in Renaissance Florence. Cambridge Cambridge University Press; 1986.
- 145. Rodrigues Ferreira T, Andresen R, Ortigão Ramos V. Para o estudo das pestes e epidemias na Lisboa Quinhentista. Boletim do Centro de Estudos Históricos e Etnológicos. 1986;1:101-33.
- 146. Bennassar B. Recherches sur les grandes épidémies dans le nord de l'Espagne à la fin du XVIe siècle : problèmes de documentation et de méthode. Paris: S.E.V.P.E.N; 1969.
- 147. Porquet L. La peste en Normandie : du XIVe au XVIIe siècle. Vire: Imprimerie René ENG; 1898.
- Sahm W. Geschichte der Pest in Ostpreussen. Leipzig: Duncker & Humblot; 1905.
- 149. Theilmann J, Frances C. A Plague of Plagues: The Problem of Plague Diagnosis in Medieval England. The Journal of Interdisciplinary History. 2007;37(3):371-93.
- 150. Cohn SK, Jr. Epidemiology of the Black Death and successive waves of plague. Med Hist Suppl. 2008(27):74-100.
- 151. Lazzari G, Colavizza G, Bortoluzzi F, Drago D, Erboso A, Zugno F, et al. A digital reconstruction of the 1630-1631 large plague outbreak in Venice. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):17849. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-74775-6.
- 152. McVaugh M. The Black Death Transformed: Disease and Culture in Early Renaissance Europe (review). Bulletin of the History of Medicine. 2004;78(1):212-4.
- 153. Buntgen U, Ginzler C, Esper J, Tegel W, McMichael AJ. Digitizing historical plague. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;55(11):1586-8. doi:10.1093/cid/cis723.
- 154. Atanasiu V, Priol C, Tournieroux A, E O. Georeferences for places of plague occurrence in Europe 1347-1600. Available from: https://bernstein.oeaw.ac.at/atlas/yersinia-description.pdf. [Accessed Mar 3, 2019].
- 155. Bjornstad ON. Epidemics. Models and Data using R: Springer; 2018.
- 156. Jones D, Helmreich S. A history of herd immunity. The Lancet. 2020;396(10254):810-1. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(20)31924-3.
- 157. Bett B, Grace D, Lee HS, Lindahl J, Nguyen-Viet H, Phuc PD, et al. Spatiotemporal analysis of historical records (2001-2012) on dengue fever in Vietnam and development of a statistical model for forecasting risk. PloS one. 2019;14(11):e0224353. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0224353.
- 158. Chirombo J, Ceccato P, Lowe R, Terlouw DJ, Thomson MC, Gumbo A, et al. Childhood malaria case incidence in Malawi between 2004 and 2017: spatio-temporal modelling of climate and non-climate factors. Malar J. 2020;19(1):5. doi:10.1186/s12936-019-3097-z.
- 159. Tesla B, Demakovsky LR, Mordecai EA, Ryan SJ, Bonds MH, Ngonghala CN, et al. Temperature drives Zika virus transmission: evidence from empirical and mathematical models. Proc Biol Sci. 2018;285(1884) doi:10.1098/rspb.2018.0795.

- 160. Mordecai EA, Cohen JM, Evans MV, Gudapati P, Johnson LR, Lippi CA, et al. Detecting the impact of temperature on transmission of Zika, dengue, and chikungunya using mechanistic models. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11(4):e0005568. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005568.
- 161. Huber JH, Childs ML, Caldwell JM, Mordecai EA. Seasonal temperature variation influences climate suitability for dengue, chikungunya, and Zika transmission. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2018;12(5):e0006451. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0006451.
- 162. Rao VSH, Durvasula R. Dynamic Models of Infectious Diseases. Volume 1: Vector-Borne Diseases: Springer; 2013.
- 163. Keeling MJ, Rohani P. Modeling Infectious Diseases in Humans and Animals: Princeton University Press; 2008.
- 164. Keeling MJ, Gilligan CA. Bubonic plague: a metapopulation model of a zoonosis. Proc Biol Sci. 2000;267(1458):2219-30. doi:10.1098/rspb.2000.1272.
- 165. Monecke S, Monecke H, Monecke J. Modelling the black death. A historical case study and implications for the epidemiology of bubonic plague. Int J Med Microbiol. 2009;299(8):582-93. doi:10.1016/j.ijmm.2009.05.003.
- 166. Didelot X, Whittles LK, Hall I. Model-based analysis of an outbreak of bubonic plague in Cairo in 1801. Journal of the Royal Society, Interface / the Royal Society. 2017;14(131) doi:10.1098/rsif.2017.0160.
- 167. Whittles LK, Didelot X. Epidemiological analysis of the Eyam plague outbreak of 1665-1666. Proc Biol Sci. 2016;283(1830) doi:10.1098/rspb.2016.0618.
- 168. White LA, Mordechai L. Modeling the Justinianic Plague: Comparing hypothesized transmission routes. PloS one. 2020;15(4):e0231256. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0231256.
- 169. Bacaer N. The model of Kermack and McKendrick for the plague epidemic in Bombay and the type reproduction number with seasonality. J Math Biol. 2012;64(3):403-22. doi:10.1007/s00285-011-0417-5.
- 170. Lewnard JA, Townsend JP. Climatic and evolutionary drivers of phase shifts in the plague epidemics of colonial India. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2016;113(51):14601-8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1604985113.
- 171. Ngeleja RC, Luboobi LS, Nkansah-Gyekye Y. Plague disease model with weather seasonality. Math Biosci. 2018;302:80-99. doi:10.1016/j.mbs.2018.05.013.
- 172. Appleby AB. The disappearance of plague: a continuing puzzle. Econ Hist Rev. 1980;33(2):161-73. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0289.1980.tb01821.x.
- 173. Wear A. Making us as cruel as dogs: plague in 16th and 17th century England. The Lancet. 2015;385(9986):2456-7. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(15)61129-1.
- 174. Bianucci R, Benedictow OJ, Fornaciari G, Giuffra V. Quinto Tiberio Angelerio and new measures for controlling plague in 16th-century Alghero,

Sardinia. Emerging infectious diseases. 2013;19(9):1478-83. doi:10.3201/eid1909.120311.

- 175. Barnett SA. Rat control in a plague outbreak in Malta. J Hyg (Lond). 1948;46(1):10-8. doi:10.1017/s0022172400036019.
- 176. Macchiavello A. A Focus of Sylvatic Plague on the Peruvian-Ecuadorian Frontier. Science. 1946;104(2710):522. doi:10.1126/science.104.2710.522.
- 177. Moore SM, Monaghan A, Borchert JN, Mpanga JT, Atiku LA, Boegler KA, et al. Seasonal fluctuations of small mammal and flea communities in a Ugandan plague focus: evidence to implicate Arvicanthis niloticus and Crocidura spp. as key hosts in Yersinia pestis transmission. Parasites & vectors. 2015;8:11. doi:10.1186/s13071-014-0616-1.
- 178. Andrianaivoarimanana V, Kreppel K, Elissa N, Duplantier JM, Carniel E, Rajerison M, et al. Understanding the persistence of plague foci in Madagascar. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2013;7(11):e2382. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002382.
- 179. Analysis Of The Evidence Given Before The Plague Commission. II. The Spread Of The Plague. The British Medical Journal. 1899;1(1997):872-3.
- 180. Swellengrebel NH. Plague in Java, 1910-1912. J Hyg (Lond). 1950;48(2):135-45. doi:10.1017/s0022172400014960.
- 181. Varlik N. The plague that never left: restoring the Second Pandemic to Ottoman and Turkish history in the time of COVID-19. New Perspectives on Turkey. 2020:1-14. doi:10.1017/npt.2020.27.
- 182. Green M. Taking "Pandemic" Seriously: Making the Black Death Global. Medieval Globe. 2014;1:27-61.
- 183. Green MH. Putting Africa on the Black Death map: Narratives from genetics and history. Afriques. 2018(09) doi:10.4000/afriques.2125.
- 184. McCoy GW, Mitzmain MB. Siphonaptera Observed in the Plague Campaign in California, with a Note upon Host Transference. Public Health Reports (1896-1970). 1909;24(29):1013-20. doi:10.2307/4563357.

Paper I

The influence of temperature on the seasonality of historical plague outbreaks

Fabienne Krauer¹, Hildegunn Viljugrein^{1,2}, Katharine R. Dean²

¹Centre for Ecological and Evolutionary Synthesis CEES, University of Oslo, Norway ²Norwegian Veterinary Institute, Oslo, Norway

Abstract

Modern plague outbreaks exhibit a distinct seasonal pattern. In contrast, the seasonality of historical outbreaks and its drivers has not been studied systematically. Here, we investigate the seasonal pattern, the epidemic peak timing and growth rates, and the association with latitude, temperature and precipitation using a large, novel dataset of plague- and all-cause mortality during the second pandemic in Europe and the Mediterranean. We found that average annual temperature was negatively associated with peak timing: a decrease of the annual average temperature by 10°C delayed the peak timing by average 14 weeks. We further show that the predicted epidemic growth rates exhibit a non-linear relationship with temperature and are maximal at 17.3°C. These findings suggest that the pre-industrial outbreaks in our dataset were governed by the same underlying temperature thresholds. Our study provides a first systematic insight into the seasonality of historical plague in the northern hemisphere, as well as consistent evidence for a temperature-related process influencing the timing and growth of these epidemics. Given the importance of understanding past epidemics to prepare for future outbreaks, our study warrants further investigation into potential mechanisms.

Keywords: climate, temperature, seasonality, epidemic growth, second plague pandemic, Yersinia pestis

Introduction

Seasonality is a salient feature of many infectious diseases [1]. For example, in the Northern hemisphere influenza is known to occur almost exclusively in winter, chickenpox peaks mainly in spring, West Nile Virus circulates mostly in summer [2]. The drivers of seasonality are manifold and depend on the type of transmission. Directly transmitted childhood diseases like measles are strongly affected by seasonal changes in social behavior like school terms or household clustering. The seasonality of vector-borne diseases depends heavily on the seasonal abundance of the vector and additional hosts, which is a function of local

climate including temperature and precipitation. The seasonality of respiratory diseases is influenced by climatic factors that affect the transmissibility of the pathogen, the susceptibility and the contact patterns of humans [3]. Influenza and respiratory syncytial virus both show a clear latitudinal gradient with peak activity being shifted towards the end of the year for increasing latitudes and decreasing average temperatures [4].

Modern plague is another example of a highly seasonal disease. This zoonosis is maintained in rodent reservoirs, and is transmitted between the animals through various flea species. Recurrent epizootic outbreaks may occasionally lead to spillover to the human population. Humans develop bubonic plague when bitten by infectious rodent fleas, which is usually fatal in about 66% of the cases if untreated [5]. They may also develop secondary pneumonic plague if the disease spreads to the lungs. Direct human-to-human transmission through infectious droplets lead to primary pneumonic plague, which is almost always fatal if not treated immediately. Many of the biological components of the plague system – including the bacteria, vectors and animal hosts - are sensitive to environmental factors [6-8]. The influence of temperature on plague activity has already been noticed in 1917 in India, where each year the outbreaks peaked between February and April and ceased completely when the temperature rose above 80° F (26.7°C) [9, 10]. A recent study has shown that during 1898-1949 outbreaks were more likely to occur when the annual humidity was moderate (60-80%) compared to lower or higher humidity levels [11]. Temperature ranges between 15-27° C have also been associated with plague incidence in many African countries [12]. In Tanzania, bubonic plague cases in the 1980s peaked mainly in December to February two months after the short rains between October and December [13]. In the highlands of Madagascar, cases occur in the warm, wet season between September and April [14]. In the United States, plague season is mainly from July to September [5]. In all of these cases, the sensitivity of the vectors and hosts to meteorological conditions also influences the plague incidence in humans.

Contrary to the rich evidence for the seasonal behaviour of modern day plague, the seasonality of plague during the Second Pandemic (14th to 19th century) has not been studied systematically. Anecdotal evidence suggests that also historical outbreaks in Europe may have followed a typical seasonal pattern. Parish records in Switzerland show that mortality during plague years was highest in November [15]. In the British Isles, plague season was predominantly in autumn [16], whereas in the Mediterranean region plague outbreaks peaked mainly in spring to summer [17]. Some have argued that historical plague in Europe peaked in the "warm season" whereas modern plague in Asia peaks in the "cool season" and speculated these discrepancies may be due to different causative agents [18].

However, molecular methods have shown unequivocally that second and third pandemic plague was indeed the same disease caused by *Y. pestis* [19]. Nevertheless, the question of whether there was a consistent plague season, and how it related to meteorological conditions is still unaddressed. Quantifying the seasonality of an infectious disease and its drivers may also provide insight into the mechanisms of historical plague in Europe. The existence of local reservoirs in pre-industrial Europe is controversial, and the vectors and hosts involved in disease transmission are not known [20]. Nowadays, the risk of another plague pandemic is fairly low due to the availability of antibiotics and reduced exposure to ectoparasites. Nevertheless, plague is still active in many parts of the world, and understanding the seasonality of historical outbreaks may contribute to understanding and preventing future epidemics.

Thus, we here investigate the seasonality of plague outbreaks across Europe and the Mediterranean during the second plague pandemic. We collected and digitized epidemiological curves from published literature and established whether a seasonal pattern was present in the data. We then estimated the peak timing and the growth rates and studied how these measures related to temperature and precipitation. We show that temperature could partially explain both the epidemic peak timing and the concurrent epidemic growth rate. We conclude our analysis with a discussion about potential mechanisms and limitations of our work.

Methods

Plague and all-cause mortality data

We first established a dataset of plague outbreaks through a combination of systematic and opportunistic literature search. We searched three major literature databases (jstor, pubmed and the internet archive) using a pre-specified search strategy (Table S1). The details are given in Text S1. We collected time series data of incident plague and all-cause mortality during plague outbreaks at daily, weekly, bi-weekly or monthly time intervals. We focused on pre-industrial outbreaks during the second plague pandemic ($14^{th} - 19^{th}$ century) in Europe (including Russia) and the Mediterranean Region. An epidemic was defined as uninterrupted plague activity for a period of at least 3 months for a given place. Epidemics with zero cases for four or more months in between were considered two different epidemics and split into two datasets. Some datasets had continuous plague activity during multiple years (recurrent peaks). For the calculation of the epidemic peaks, we split these epidemics into annual outbreaks at the minima between the peak to assess the seasonality for each outbreak separately. We also calculated the estimated attack rates (i.e. the proportion of the population infected

at the end of the epidemic, also known as final size) of all outbreaks, for which we could retrieve initial population sizes. The attack rates were calculated as

$$attack \ rate = \frac{n_{deaths} * \frac{1}{p(dying \mid infected)}}{population \ size}$$
 Eq. 1

where n_{deaths} is the cumulative number of deaths at the end of the epidemic and p(dying | infected) is the case fatality ratio (CFR), which is around 0.66 in untreated cases [5]. Wherever possible, dates were converted to the Gregorian calendar prior to analysis. The raw data and the R code for data preparation and analysis are available in a public repository [21].

Climatic, geographical and demographic data

Geographical coordinates of all locations with plague data were obtained from Google Maps. To investigate the effect of temperature and precipitation, we used the CRU TS 4.03 dataset, which are global, monthly-averaged climate raster data [22]. From this dataset, we extracted the monthly temperature and precipitation values for the years 1901 to 1939. We first calculated the annual mean precipitation and temperature for each place and used these point estimates as predictors to model the timing of the epidemic peak. We then used the monthly temperature data and fitted a Fourier series model of the form

$$Temperature = a + b \times \sin \frac{2\pi}{365}t + c \times \cos \frac{2\pi}{365}t + d \times \sin \frac{4\pi}{365}t + e \times \cos \frac{4\pi}{365}t \qquad \text{Eq. 2}$$

where t is the day of the year. This model allows for a harmonic smoothing of temperature data without the constraints of vertical symmetry as in a simple sine function. We used the resulting coefficients to predict the average, daily temperatures, which were used as a covariate to model the growth rates.

Detection of seasonal pattern

We first investigated whether seasonality was present in our dataset. For this, we selected all plague-specific mortality data from places with at least four outbreaks. We first examined the distribution of the number of deaths by month for each place separately. We then grouped months into seasons and fitted a generalized linear model (GLM) with a negative binomial error structure and a log link function and with the season as a categorical covariate for each place:

$$\ln\left(\frac{y}{population}\right) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \cdot season$$
 Eq. 3

where *y* is the number of deaths, the natural log of the population is an offset and β_0 is the intercept. The exponential of the β_1 coefficients resulting from this type of model give an estimation of the incidence rate ratio (IRR), which is the increase in incidence compared to a baseline (winter in our model). This model was then compared to a null model with an intercept only and without season by means of a likelihood ratio (LR) test.

Influence of latitude, temperature and precipitation on the epidemic peak timing

To investigate the association between latitude and plague mortality, we aggregated all plague mortality data monthly and calculated the annual average percentage (AAP) for each month i as

$$AAP_i = \frac{n_i}{\sum_{1}^{12} n_i} \times 100\%$$
 Eq. 4

where n_i is the number of plague deaths in month *i*, and examined the distributions with a plot. Since latitude itself is a proxy measure for climatic variables, we then investigated the influence of annual average temperature and precipitation on the observed patterns of mortality. For this, we looked at the timing of the mortality peak, which is a more convenient indicator for seasonality of historical outbreaks than the start or end points, which are often not well recorded. We aggregated all daily and weekly plague mortality data by ISO week and calculated the calendar week in which most deaths were reported. Some places had multiple outbreaks and these data points are potentially stronger correlated than measurements from other places. We thus fitted two linear, univariable GEE (generalized estimating equations) models for the effect of temperature and precipitation, respectively, using the R package geepack [23]. The GEE model is a population-averaged model that can deal with clustering of observations [24]. It treats the within-subject covariance as a nuisance effect but yields a parameter estimate and robust standard errors adjusted for the clustering. We specified an exchangeable working correlation structure, i.e. assuming the correlation of observations within the same cluster is constant across all clusters. For each model, we calculated the variance explained given by the coefficient of determination adapted to GEE models (R^{2}_{marg}) , for the calculation see [25]). We also conducted four sensitivity analyses by extending the dataset to include also 1) monthly plague data, 2) weekly allcause mortality data during known plague outbreaks, 3) monthly plague and allcause mortality data during known plague outbreaks, and 4) by excluding data from small outbreaks.

Influence of temperature on the epidemic growth

Based on the findings from the model of temperature and peak timing, we were interested in how temperature determined the epidemic growth. To calculate the growth rates we used all weekly plague mortality data with complete epidemiological curves. We then established the actual epidemic curve (i.e. the number of incident infections over time) by taking into account the probability of dying when infected and the delay between infection and death. For the prior, we divided the weekly incident deaths by the average case fatality ratio CFR of 0.66. For the latter, we subtracted the average time from infection to death from all the dates, which is around 7 days according to data from the third plague pandemic in India [26]. We then modelled the epidemic growth rate for each outbreak by regressing the log-transformed incident cases on time in days. To account for variations of the growth rate over time, we partitioned the data into rolling time windows of four weeks and fitted each segment separately. This resulted in a timevarying, moving average of growth rate. To reduce the influence of random fluctuations when case numbers were low, we excluded the beginning and the tail of the epidemics when the incident number of cases were smaller than 21 (i.e. 3 cases per day). To explore the potential function that links temperature to the timevarying growth rates (r), we fitted a univariable generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) with a Gaussian error structure and an identity link function of the form:

$$r = \beta_0 + f(temperature) + \varepsilon$$
 Eq. 5

where β_0 is the intercept and ε are the residuals. To account for the remaining autocorrelation of data points from the same outbreak, we assumed an AR1 gaussian correlation structure for the residuals with $\varepsilon_i = \varepsilon_{i-1} + \rho e_i$, where ρ is the correlation parameter and $e_i \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$. The advantage of a generalized additive model is that it allows for a nonlinear relationship between predictor and outcome without making an explicit a-priori assumption about the shape of this relationship (see [27]). We used the R package mgcv for the fitting prodecure [27].

Results

Description of plague and all-cause mortality data

With the systematic search strategy, we retrieved 2450 references (Table S2). After screening the full texts of 246 references (10%), we included nine publications that contained useful data. We also included 36 publications from an opportunistic search strategy resulting in 45 publications containing useful data for our analysis. Eighteen publications contained data on two or more epidemics, which resulted in 130 datasets in total, with 76 datasets for plague mortality and 54

datasets for all-cause mortality during plague outbreaks (Tables S3 and S4). Some of the epidemics consisted of multiple years resulting in totally 157 annual outbreaks from 87 unique locations. Of these, 100 (64%) were plague mortality data and 57 (36%) were all-cause mortality data. The location and epidemiological curves of all outbreaks are shown in Figures S1 and S2. The interval at which the plague deaths were recorded was weekly (28.6%), monthly (36.4%), daily (33.8%) or bi-weekly (1.3%). The majority of the plague mortality datasets were from the UK (35.1%), followed by Spain (18.2%), Egypt (10.4%) and other places (36.3%). Most dated from the 17th century (32.5%), followed by the 16th century (23.4%) and the 19th century (18.2%). The median duration of the plague outbreaks was 9 months (range 4-103). The median cumulative number of deaths was 1352 (range 38-68,596) and the median number of deaths at peak was 429 in a month (range 14-31,036). The median attack rate was 11% (0.11, range 0.0009-1) and decayed non-linearly with increasing initial population size (Figure S3). Above a population size of 100,000 the proportion of infected people never exceeded 0.25 (25%). The year of the outbreak was not associated with the attack rate (Pearson correlation coefficient -0.05).

Detection of seasonal pattern

As shown in Figure 1, the monthly distribution of plague deaths in places with at least four outbreaks (Alexandria, Algiers, Barcelona, London and Vienna) suggests a distinct seasonal pattern for all places but different peak times. A model including season explained the data better than a model without a season covariate for all places except Algiers (Table 1, see p-values of LR tests). Compared to the baseline of winter, the maximum increase in the incidence was observed in spring (March-May) for Alexandria (IRR 4.75, 95% CI 1.7-12.54) and Barcelona (IRR 8.1, 95% CI 3.31-18.61), and in autumn (September-November) for London (IRR 10.66, 95% CI 6.85-16.57) and Vienna (IRR 5.11, 95% CI 2.03-12.55). In Algiers, the maximum incidence was also in spring but the difference to the other seasons was statistically not significant (IRR 2.66, 95% CI 0.82- 8.47). These results indicate that the historical outbreaks in our data exhibit a consistent seasonality pattern.



Figure 1. The distribution of plague deaths by months from all recorded plague years shows a distinct seasonality pattern for all five places with multiple outbreaks. The boxes encompass the 25th to 75th percentile, the whiskers extend to the maximum or to maximally to 1.5 times the interquartile range. The vertical lines denote the medians. Few outliers (dots) have been omitted from the plot for clarity.

Table 1. Results from a univariable GLM model with a negative binomial error structure. The incidence rate ratio (IRR, with 95% CI) is the increase in incidence rate compared to the baseline. The p-values are from an LR test comparing the model to a null model without seasonality.

spring IRR	summer IRR	autumn IRR	p-value
[95% CI]	[95% CI]	[95% CI]	(LR test)
4.75 [1.7 - 12.54]	0.35 [0.12 - 0.95]	0.03 [0.01 - 0.11]	< 0.001
2.66 [0.82 - 8.47]	2.03 [0.67 - 5.58]	1.29 [0.4 - 3.94]	0.329
8.1 [3.31 - 18.61]	7.1 [3.07 - 14.88]	1.85 [0.77 - 4.09]	< 0.001
0.44 [0.28 - 0.68]	4.66 [3 - 7.23]	10.66 [6.85 - 16.57]	< 0.001
0.63 [0.24 - 1.68]	1.57 [0.61 - 3.99]	5.11 [2.03 - 12.55]	< 0.001
	spring IRR [95% CI] 4.75 [1.7 - 12.54] 2.66 [0.82 - 8.47] 8.1 [3.31 - 18.61] 0.44 [0.28 - 0.68] 0.63 [0.24 - 1.68]	spring IRRsummer IRR[95% CI][95% CI]4.75 [1.7 - 12.54]0.35 [0.12 - 0.95]2.66 [0.82 - 8.47]2.03 [0.67 - 5.58]8.1 [3.31 - 18.61]7.1 [3.07 - 14.88]0.44 [0.28 - 0.68]4.66 [3 - 7.23]0.63 [0.24 - 1.68]1.57 [0.61 - 3.99]	spring IRRsummer IRRautumn IRR[95% CI][95% CI][95% CI]4.75 [1.7 - 12.54]0.35 [0.12 - 0.95]0.03 [0.01 - 0.11]2.66 [0.82 - 8.47]2.03 [0.67 - 5.58]1.29 [0.4 - 3.94]8.1 [3.31 - 18.61]7.1 [3.07 - 14.88]1.85 [0.77 - 4.09]0.44 [0.28 - 0.68]4.66 [3 - 7.23]10.66 [6.85 - 16.57]0.63 [0.24 - 1.68]1.57 [0.61 - 3.99]5.11 [2.03 - 12.55]

Influence of latitude, temperature and precipitation on the epidemic peak timing

The findings from the previous model not only suggest that historical plague showed a distinct seasonality, but also that the typical plague season differed by latitude. We therefore investigated this aspect further by assessing the monthly percentage distribution of plague deaths for all places in our dataset. Figure 2 suggests a latitudinal gradient with a shift of the cases towards the end of the year for increasing latitude.



Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Figure 2. The annual average percentage (AAP) of monthly plague deaths sorted by latitude suggests a latitudinal gradient with a shift of epidemic activity towards the end of the year for increasing latitude. The northern places until Odessa cover an area between 45° and 55° N, the southern places encompass the latitudes 30° to 45° N.

Latitude alone may not explain the seasonality of plague mortality mechanistically, but it is a rough proxy measure for climatic conditions. We thus investigated the association between the seasonal epidemic peak timing and average, annual temperature and precipitation, respectively. For this, we used weekly plague mortality data from 65 outbreaks from 22 unique places, of which 73% had data for only one outbreak. A third of the outbreak data came from London. The median peak was observed at week 35 (range 11-52), which falls usually at the beginning of September (range mid-March to end December). Overall, we found a negative association between week of the year and annual temperature, and no association between week and precipitation (Figure 3). A decrease in average temperature of one degree Celsius delayed the epidemic peak by 1.4 weeks (β =-1.39, SE=0.232, p<0.01). Temperature was a significant predictor in the model, but overall the model explained only 44% of the variance in the data ($R^2_{marg}=0.44$).

Average annual precipitation was not associated with peak month (β =0.124, SE=0.130, p=0.34, R²_{marg}=0.075) and did not improve the fit when added to the model with temperature (R²_{marg}=0.43).



Figure 3. Association of annual mean temperature (A) and annual mean precipitation (B) with epidemic peak week. The bands show the 95% confidence intervals for the fit from a univariable, linear GEE model.

To investigate the robustness of our findings, we repeated the analysis including additional data points. As shown in Figure S4 the negative association between temperature and peak timing was confirmed when extending the dataset with monthly plague data (beta=-0.31, SE=0.03, R^{2}_{marg} =0.497), weekly all-cause mortality (beta=-1.33, SE=0.177, R^{2}_{marg} =0.429) and monthly all-cause mortality (beta=-0.286, SE=0.029, R^{2}_{marg} =0.43). Excluding smaller outbreaks with less than 100 deaths at the peak improved the model fit slightly (beta=-1.55, SE=0.22, R^{2}_{marg} =0.556). These results corroborate the finding that annual mean temperature had an effect on the peak timing of historical plague epidemics in Europe and the Mediterranean: The epidemic activity occurred later in the year as the mean temperature decreased and the latitude increased. Of note, the peaks represent the maximum mortality and not the maximum in epidemic activity. However, if we assume that the average time from infection to death was constant across all places and throughout the outbreaks, the epidemic peak is simply shifted to the left by a constant, which does not affect the results from the regression analysis.

Influence of temperature on the epidemic growth

Based on the finding that peak timing was associated with annual temperature (and its proxy latitude), we further investigated this aspect by examining the temperature-dependence of the epidemic growth rates. For this, we used the plague mortality data from 49 outbreaks (13 unique places) and estimated the instantaneous time-varying growth rates for each outbreak separately (Figure S5).

These calculated growth rates ranged from -0.097 to 0.098 with a median estimate of 0.02 for the increasing phases and -0.02 for the decreasing phases. We then explored the relationship of the instantaneous growth rates with the concurrent local temperature. The distribution of growth rates by temperature is noisy, but a non-linear relationship with unequal distributions for positive and negative growth rates was detectable (Figure 4A). The temperatures measured at the 13 places ranged from -3.8°C to 27.2°C, but no positive growth was observed below 4°C or above 26°C. The prediction from a GAMM model showed that this relationship takes the form of a single peak curve with a maximum at 17.3°C (Figure 4B). Positive growth was predicted only for temperature between 11.7°C (95% CI 9.8-13.4°C) and 21.5°C (95% CI 20.3-22.5°C). This model explained 28% of the variance in the data (R^2_{adj} =0.28). The model fit substantially better than a model without a AR1 correlated error structure (LR test p-value <0.0001).

We also conducted two separate sensitivity analyses for the effect of temperature on the growth rates by 1) including only large outbreaks with at least 500 weekly deaths at peak, and 2) omitting the data from London. The prior addresses the issue of imprecise measurements of the growth rates in small outbreaks due to random fluctuations in cases, the latter addresses the predominance of London in the dataset. Using only large outbreaks, the non-linear, unimodal relationship was still detectable (Figure S6A). The maximum growth was predicted marginally lower at 16.2°C, and the model fit marginally better than with the full dataset ($R^{2}_{adi}=0.30$). Fitting the model without the data from London still resulted in the same relationship between temperature and growth rates (Figure S6B) with a peak at 16.5°C. However, the variance explained was lower than in the model with the full dataset ($R^{2}_{adi}=0.20$). We also performed the same analysis with precipitation as a predictor of the time-varying growth rate and found a weak, unimodal association $(R^{2}_{adj=0.19})$ (Figure S7A). However, this association was driven entirely by the data from London; when we omitted these data points, there was no association between precipitation and the time-varying growth rate ($R^{2}_{adj}=0.03$, Fig. S7B). Model diagnostics showed that the residuals were approximately normally distributed and the variance was constant for all models.



Figure 4. Distribution of predicted time-varying growth rates by temperature. (A) Histogram of positive (green) and zero or negative growth (red) and (B) scatter plot of time-varying growth rates for the full data set. The red line and ribbon indicate the fit and 95% CI from a univariable GAMM model. The maximum growth was predicted at 17.3° C.

Discussion

In this study, we investigated the epidemiological characteristics and the seasonality of pre-industrial plague outbreaks in Europe and the Mediterranean. We show that on average, an outbreak lasted for 9 months, caused a total of 1352 deaths with 429 deaths at peak month, and infected 11% of the population. The attack rate also depended on the population size: the larger the initial population size, the lower the attack rate. This suggests that there was a limiting factor that prevented large populations from being infected completely, unlike small populations which could be wiped out almost completely. We further show that places with repeated outbreaks had a consistent plague season and that epidemic peak timing followed a latitudinal gradient. This same gradient was also observed when modelling the annual mean temperature as a predictor: The colder the mean temperature and the more north a place, the later the epidemic peak occurred. Moreover, we show that the predicted epidemic growth of all outbreaks was positive between 11.7°C and 21.5°C with a maximum at 17.3°C. Hence, our study provides evidence that the growth of plague epidemics across the whole study region depended on similar absolute temperature thresholds. The minimum temperature threshold also explained the shift in peak timing with decreasing temperature (see Figure 3): the lower the annual mean temperature in place, the later in the year the threshold was reached (Pearson correlation coefficient -0.90, Figure S8) and thus the later in the year the epidemic peaks occurred. Overall, our findings from the different analyses provide consistent evidence for a temperaturerelated process that influenced the dynamics of pre-industrial plague outbreaks. Precipitation on the other hand seemed not associated with neither peak timing nor epidemic growth. This finding contradicts ecological studies, which show that
precipitation influences plague incidence among rodents through effects on vegetation, fleas and hosts (trophic cascade hypothesis) [28]. Because the interannual variation is generally larger for precipitation than for temperature, true effects may be concealed due to the use of modern, averaged precipitation data. The relationship between precipitation and epidemic peak timing may also not be linear as suggested by few outliers, but it was not possible to test this with the present data. We did not observe an effect of precipitation in our analysis, but we cannot exclude that precipitation played a role in addition to temperature.

Our findings warrant a closer investigation into potential mechanisms. Bubonic plague is linked to climate through the sensitivity of vectors and hosts to meteorological conditions [6, 8]. The mortality rates and development of various flea species are known to increase with rising temperatures leading to a characteristic seasonal abundance, but the favourable temperature ranges differ by flea species [29]. For some flea species the microclimate in the fur or the burrow of their host may play a larger role than the air temperature [30]. Moreover, the plague bacterium, Yersinia pestis, was shown to be transmitted from fleas to rodents at temperatures ranging from 23°C to 30°C but not at 10°C [31]. Nowadays, bubonic plague transmission in humans happens mainly at the interface between the human population and wildlife and its temperature dependence is thus mainly due to the temperature sensitivity of the wildlife plague system. For second pandemic outbreaks, there is an ongoing debate about which vectors and rodent hosts or reservoirs were present in Europe and which transmission routes dominated the spread [32-34]. The involvement of human ectoparasites, such as human fleas, has been hypothesised [34]. However, the influence of temperature on human ectoparasites and the resulting effect on plague in humans has not been studied. Another potential mechanism is the influence of temperature on humanto-human transmission of pneumonic plague. The main driver of primary pneumonic transmission seems to be close contact between infectee and infector during the final stage of the disease [35], which is why pneumonic outbreaks are usually small. The contribution of climatic conditions to pneumonic transmission has not been studied systematically. However, the occurrence of pneumonic outbreaks in many geographically and climatically diverse places such as Madagascar in August to September ([36] average temperature 15-20°C), Manchuria in December to January ([37], average temperature around -10°C) or Rangoon (Myanmar) in September ([38], average temperature 25-30°C) suggests that the suitable temperature range is very large, and that other factors such as crowding and the influx of susceptibles may be more influential. Of note, the outbreak in Vetlyanka in our dataset had a large proportion of cases with pneumonia. Interestingly, the peak occurred about two months later than what we would expect given the geographical location (see Figure 2). This observation may

support the hypothesis that outbreaks of substantial or complete pneumonic nature are not as dependent on temperature as vector-borne plague.

Temperature did not fully explain the variance in our data, and additional factors or alternative explanations for the plague seasonality must be considered. The growth and decline of human plague outbreaks commonly depends on a disease introduction event in the human population, the level of susceptibility in the human population and the availability of and contacts with vectors. The latter may additionally be influenced by other meteorological factors such as relative humidity or vapour pressure [6], which we have not considered here given the lack of association with precipitation. These measures exhibit large inter-annual variation, and their contribution is better modelled with contemporaneous meteorological data instead of modern, averaged data. The use of averaged data may also affect the association between temperature and epidemic peak timing and growth. As we show, the historical temperatures differed up to a few degrees (Text S2, Figure S9), and our results are thus an approximation of the general, meteorological process. The use of contemporaneous temperature data would allow to take into account inter-annual variation in the seasonal temperature, which might explain a larger proportion of the variance in peak timing and growth rates. The occurrence of plague outbreaks in Europe during the second and third pandemic has also been linked to maritime trade activities to explain outbreaks in the absence of permanent local plague reservoirs [20, 39]. Ship trade in preindustrial times was highly seasonal due to weather conditions and seasonal availability of commodity. However, favourable local conditions are a prerequisite for an outbreak to grow beyond a few dozen cases after disease introduction (irrespective of the assumption about the transmission routes). Most of the data in our analysis are from large epidemics with hundreds of casualties, thus conditions must have been suitable for transmission. Hence, disease introduction is a necessary but not a sufficient condition for the establishment of an outbreak. In fact, during the third pandemic, only around 5% disease introductions in Europe through maritime trade activities led to the establishment of a sizeable outbreak with more than 20 cases (see supplement in [39]). This suggests that the local conditions were not conducive of epidemic growth or that mitigation strategies were very successful.

Other factors such as the fluctuation of susceptibles due to population immunity and demographic turnover of the human population are also known to influence the periodicity of some infectious diseases. This periodicity arises mostly in directly transmitted childhood diseases, where the interplay of population immunity and replenishment of susceptibles through births leads to an endemicepidemic cycle [40]. However, plague is a highly fatal disease and many of these outbreaks were several years to decades apart. The increase in immune hosts over time may have been counteracted by the rapid natural population turnover due to a short lifespan and a high birth rate. Thus, we expect that population immunity played only a minor role in the periodicity of most of these outbreaks. Seasonal human behaviour such as harvesting may periodically increase the contact between humans and wildlife, and may lead to seasonal plague outbreaks as observed in Argentina [41]. However, this would require the existence of plague reservoirs all over Europe, which is debatable. Finally, reporting errors in plague mortality may influence the peak timing and growth rates. The extent of missing plague deaths and the effect on our analysis is difficult to assess in the absence of contemporaneous all-cause mortality data. We expect underreporting of deaths to be an issue mostly for very large epidemics with several hundred casualties per week. Particularly in London, a systematic undercounting of plague deaths was reported [42]. However, constant underreporting does not affect the estimation of the growth rate or the peak timing even if the absolute death counts are false.

Data from outbreaks not included in our study confirms our findings. The last large outbreak in Porto started in June 1899, but the incidence started to increase rapidly only in the second half of September with a peak mid-October [43]. The average temperature oscillated between 20 and 25°C but dropped below 20°C in mid-September when the cases started to increase. The last large plague outbreak globally happened in 2017 in Madagascar [44]. It started in August with few incident cases and increased rapidly towards the end of September with a peak in bubonic cases at the beginning of October when the temperature was favourable for the plague vectors [45]. Of note, 75% of the cases were pneumonic plague, which is an extraordinary large proportion. A recently published study of a large epidemic in Venice in 1630/31 [46] showed that the peak mortality occurred approximately at the end of October (around calendar week 44), which is well within the range of our data for places with a comparable annual mean temperature (12.6°C). The largest expected epidemic growth seems to have occurred at the beginning of September, when the predicted temperature decreased below 20°C (according to the CRU data), which also agrees well with our model prediction. Not all plague outbreaks show a similar temperature threshold behavior. Third pandemic outbreaks in Bombay usually grew rapidly in December to January and peaked in February to April [10, 18]. The average CRU temperature in Bombay drops below 25°C in December and January and rises again above 25°C in March. While this example shows that a favourable temperature and thus a seasonal pattern range exists also for outbreaks in India, the absolute temperature range is somewhat higher than what we found. As shown in a recent study, humidity may have been a larger driver of the seasonality in India than absolute temperature [11].

As with modern plague outbreaks, we argue that local, climatic conditions that acted on the abundance of vectors (and other hosts) were drivers of historical plague seasonality. Further entomological and epidemiological research is needed to investigate the influence of temperature and other meteorological factors on the abundance of various plague vectors. Uncovering the underlying mechanisms of the plague seasonality that we document here will strengthen our understanding of historical and modern plague transmission.

Funding

This work was supported by funding from the Centre for Ecological and Evolutionary Synthesis (CEES), University of Oslo, and the Research Council of Norway (FRIMEDBIO project 288551).

Ethics statement

Not applicable.

Data accessibility statement

The R code and the plague and all-cause mortality dataset is available in a public repository (http://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.4240204) [21]. The CRU TS 4.03 dataset [22] is available at https://catalogue.ceda.ac.uk/uuid/10d3e3640f004c578403419aac167d82.

Competing interests statement

We declare we have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions statement

F.K. conceived and designed the study; F.K. and K.R.D collected and compiled the data; F.K. performed the analysis; K.R.D., F.K. and H.V. interpreted the results; F.K. wrote the paper with input from K.R.D. and H.V. All authors gave final approval for publication.

Acknowledgments

We thank everyone who helped with finding data or who contributed their own data: The staff at the Science Library (Realfagsbiblioteket) of the University of Oslo, Krásenská Klára (National Library of the Czech Republic), Dr. Daniel Curtis (University of Rotterdam), Filomena Rodrigues (Associação Portuguesa de Demografia), Marie Prusova (Czech Statistical Office).

References

- Altizer, S., Dobson, A., Hosseini, P., Hudson, P., Pascual, M. & Rohani, P. 2006 Seasonality and the dynamics of infectious diseases. *Ecology letters* 9, 467-484. (doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00879.x).
- [2] Martinez, M.E. 2018 The calendar of epidemics: Seasonal cycles of infectious diseases. *PLoS Pathog* 14, e1007327. (doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1007327).
- [3] Moriyama, M., Hugentobler, W.J. & Iwasaki, A. 2020 Seasonality of Respiratory Viral Infections. *Annu Rev Virol* 7, 83-101. (doi:10.1146/annurevvirology-012420-022445).
- [4] Bloom-Feshbach, K., Alonso, W.J., Charu, V., Tamerius, J., Simonsen, L., Miller, M.A. & Viboud, C. 2013 Latitudinal variations in seasonal activity of influenza and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV): a global comparative review. *PloS one* 8, e54445. (doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0054445).
- [5] Kugeler, K.J., Staples, J.E., Hinckley, A.F., Gage, K.L. & Mead, P.S. 2015 Epidemiology of human plague in the United States, 1900-2012. *Emerging infectious diseases* 21, 16-22. (doi:10.3201/eid2101.140564).
- [6] Ben-Ari, T., Neerinckx, S., Gage, K.L., Kreppel, K., Laudisoit, A., Leirs, H. & Stenseth, N.C. 2011 Plague and climate: scales matter. *PLoS Pathog* 7, e1002160. (doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002160).
- [7] Gage, K.L. 2012 Factors affecting the spread and maintenance of plague. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology* **954**, 79-94. (doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-3561-7_11).
- [8] Samia, N.I., Kausrud, K.L., Heesterbeek, H., Ageyev, V., Begon, M., Chan, K.S. & Stenseth, N.C. 2011 Dynamics of the plague-wildlife-human system in Central Asia are controlled by two epidemiological thresholds. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 14527-14532. (doi:10.1073/pnas.1015946108).
- [9] Brooks, R.S. 1917 LXXXIV. The influence of saturation deficiency and of temperature on the course of epidemic plague. *J Hyg (Lond)* **15**, 881-899.
- [10] Lewnard, J.A. & Townsend, J.P. 2016 Climatic and evolutionary drivers of phase shifts in the plague epidemics of colonial India. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **113**, 14601-14608. (doi:10.1073/pnas.1604985113).
- [11] Tennant, W.S.D., Tildesley, M.J., Spencer, S.E.F. & Keeling, M.J. 2020 Climate drivers of plague epidemiology in British India, 1898-1949. *Proc Biol Sci* 287, 20200538. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2020.0538).
- [12] Davis, D.H. 1953 Plague in Africa from 1935 to 1949; a survey of wild rodents in African territories. *Bull World Health Organ* **9**, 665-700.
- [13] Debien, A., Neerinckx, S., Kimaro, D. & Gulinck, H. 2010 Influence of satellite-derived rainfall patterns on plague occurrence in northeast Tanzania. *International journal of health geographics* 9, 60. (doi:10.1186/1476-072X-9-60).
- [14] Ratsitorahina, M., Chanteau, S., Rosso, M.L., Randriambelosoa, J., Ratsifasoamanana, L., Rabarijaona, L.P., Mauclere, P. & Migliani, R. 2002 [Epidemiological data on the plague in Madagascar]. Arch Inst Pasteur Madagascar 68, 51-54.

- [15] Eckert, E.A. 1980 Seasonality of plague in early modern Europe: Swiss epidemic of 1628--1630. *Rev Infect Dis* 2, 952-959. (doi:10.1093/clinids/2.6.952).
- [16] Shrewsbury, J.F.D. 1970 A History of Bubonic Plague in the British Isles. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- [17] Cohn, S.K. 2002 *The black death transformed : disease and culture in early Renaissance Europe*. London, Arnold.
- [18] Welford, M.R. & Bossak, B.H. 2009 Validation of inverse seasonal peak mortality in medieval plagues, including the Black Death, in comparison to modern Yersinia pestis-variant diseases. *PloS one* 4, e8401. (doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008401).
- [19] Namouchi, A., Guellil, M., Kersten, O., Hansch, S., Ottoni, C., Schmid, B.V., Pacciani, E., Quaglia, L., Vermunt, M., Bauer, E.L., et al. 2018 Integrative approach using Yersinia pestis genomes to revisit the historical landscape of plague during the Medieval Period. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **115**, E11790-E11797. (doi:10.1073/pnas.1812865115).
- [20] Schmid, B.V., Buntgen, U., Easterday, W.R., Ginzler, C., Walloe, L., Bramanti, B. & Stenseth, N.C. 2015 Climate-driven introduction of the Black Death and successive plague reintroductions into Europe. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **112**, 3020-3025. (doi:10.1073/pnas.1412887112).
- [21] Krauer, F. & Dean, K.R. 2020 Supplemental material for "The influence of temperature on the seasonality of historical plague outbreaks". Zenodo. (doi:10.5281/zenodo.4240204).
- [22] University Of East Anglia Climatic Research Unit (CRU), Harris, I.C. & Jones, P.D. 2019 Climatic Research Unit (CRU) Time-Series (TS) version 4.03 of high-resolution gridded data of month-by-month variation in climate (Jan. 1901–Dec. 2018). (doi:10.5285/10d3e3640f004c578403419aac167d82).
- [23] Halekoh, U., Højsgaard, S. & Yan, J. 2006 TheRPackagegeepackfor Generalized Estimating Equations. *Journal of Statistical Software* 15, 1-11. (doi:10.18637/jss.v015.i02).
- [24] Liang, K.-Y. & Zeger, S.L. 1986 Longitudinal Data Analysis Using Generalized Linear Models. *Biometrika* **73**, 13-22. (doi:10.2307/2336267).
- [25] Zheng, B. 2000 Summarizing the goodness of fit of generalized linear models for longitudinal data. *Stat Med* **19**, 1265-1275. (doi:10.1002/(sici)1097-0258(20000530)19:10<1265::aid-sim486>3.0.co;2-u).
- [26] The Advisory Committee Appointed by the Secretary of State for India. 1906 IX. On the quantitative estimation of the septicaemia in human plague. *J Hyg* (*Lond*) 6, 524-529. (doi:10.1017/s0022172400003120).
- [27] Wood, S. 2006 *Generalized Additive Models: An Introduction with R*, Taylor & Francis.
- [28] Parmenter, R.R., Yadav, E.P., Parmenter, C.A., Ettestad, P. & Gage, K.L. 1999 Incidence of plague associated with increased winter-spring precipitation in New Mexico. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* 61, 814-821. (doi:10.4269/ajtmh.1999.61.814).

- [29] Krasnov, B.R. 2008 Functional and Evolutionary Ecology of Fleas: A Model for Ecological Parasitology, Cambridge University Press.
- [30] van der Mescht, L., le Roux, P.C., Matthee, C.A., Raath, M.J. & Matthee, S. 2016 The influence of life history characteristics on flea (Siphonaptera) species distribution models. *Parasites & vectors* 9, 178. (doi:10.1186/s13071-016-1466-9).
- [31] Schotthoefer, A.M., Bearden, S.W., Vetter, S.M., Holmes, J., Montenieri, J.A., Graham, C.B., Woods, M.E., Eisen, R.J. & Gage, K.L. 2011 Effects of temperature on early-phase transmission of Yersina pestis by the flea, Xenopsylla cheopis. *Journal of medical entomology* 48, 411-417. (doi:10.1603/me10155).
- [32] Carmichael, A.G. 2014 Plague persistance in Western Europe: a hypothesis. *The Medieval Globe* **1**, 157-191.
- [33] Drancourt, M., Houhamdi, L. & Raoult, D. 2006 Yersinia pestis as a telluric, human ectoparasite-borne organism. *Lancet Infect Dis* 6, 234-241. (doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(06)70438-8).
- [34] Dean, K.R., Krauer, F., Walloe, L., Lingjaerde, O.C., Bramanti, B., Stenseth, N.C. & Schmid, B.V. 2018 Human ectoparasites and the spread of plague in Europe during the Second Pandemic. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 115, 1304-1309. (doi:10.1073/pnas.1715640115).
- [35] Kool, J.L. 2005 Risk of person-to-person transmission of pneumonic plague. *Clin Infect Dis* **40**, 1166-1172. (doi:10.1086/428617).
- [36] Ramasindrazana, B., Andrianaivoarimanana, V., Rakotondramanga, J.M., Birdsell, D.N., Ratsitorahina, M. & Rajerison, M. 2017 Pneumonic Plague Transmission, Moramanga, Madagascar, 2015. *Emerging infectious diseases* 23, 521-524. (doi:10.3201/eid2303.161406).
- [37] Nishiura, H. 2006 Epidemiology of a primary pneumonic plague in Kantoshu, Manchuria, from 1910 to 1911: statistical analysis of individual records collected by the Japanese Empire. *International journal of epidemiology* 35, 1059-1065. (doi:10.1093/ije/dyl091).
- [38] Wynne-Griffith, G. 1948 Pneumonic plague in Rangoon. *Lancet* **1**, 625-627. (doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(48)90812-5).
- [39] Bramanti, B., Dean, K.R., Walloe, L. & Chr Stenseth, N. 2019 The Third Plague Pandemic in Europe. *Proc Biol Sci* 286, 20182429. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2018.2429).
- [40] Morris, S.E., Pitzer, V.E., Viboud, C., Metcalf, C.J., Bjornstad, O.N. & Grenfell, B.T. 2015 Demographic buffering: titrating the effects of birth rate and imperfect immunity on epidemic dynamics. *Journal of the Royal Society, Interface / the Royal Society* 12, 20141245. (doi:10.1098/rsif.2014.1245).
- [41] Macchiavello, A. 1946 A Focus of Sylvatic Plague on the Peruvian-Ecuadorian Frontier. *Science* **104**, 522. (doi:10.1126/science.104.2710.522).
- [42] Graunt, J. 1665 London's dreadful visitation: or, A collection of all the bills of mortality for this present year: beginning the 27th of December 1664, and ending the 19th of December following: as also, the general or whole years

bill: according to the report made to the King's most excellent Majesty. London, Cotes.

- [43] Montaldo, F. 1900 *La Peste bubonica en Oporto (Portugal) 1899-1900.* Madrid, typ. de Fontanet.
- [44] Tsuzuki, S., Lee, H., Miura, F., Chan, Y.H., Jung, S.M., Akhmetzhanov, A.R. & Nishiura, H. 2017 Dynamics of the pneumonic plague epidemic in Madagascar, August to October 2017. *Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin* 22. (doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.46.17-00710).
- [45] Kreppel, K.S., Telfer, S., Rajerison, M., Morse, A. & Baylis, M. 2016 Effect of temperature and relative humidity on the development times and survival of Synopsyllus fonquerniei and Xenopsylla cheopis, the flea vectors of plague in Madagascar. *Parasites & vectors* 9, 82. (doi:10.1186/s13071-016-1366-z).
- [46] Lazzari, G., Colavizza, G., Bortoluzzi, F., Drago, D., Erboso, A., Zugno, F., Kaplan, F. & Salathe, M. 2020 A digital reconstruction of the 1630-1631 large plague outbreak in Venice. *Sci Rep* 10, 17849. (doi:10.1038/s41598-020-74775-6).

Supplemental material for

The influence of temperature on the seasonality of historical plague outbreaks

Fabienne Krauer¹, Hildegunn Viljugrein^{1,2}, Katharine R. Dean²

¹Centre for Ecological and Evolutionary Synthesis CEES, University of Oslo, Norway ²Norwegian Veterinary Institute, Oslo, Norway **Table S1.** Search strategies for the systematic search of literature containing plague mortality data

Source	Search terms / Restrictions
Jstor	((plague OR Pest OR peste) AND (epidemi* OR mortalit*) AND (histori*) NOT (India OR Indien OR Madagas*ar OR China OR Mongolia OR Kazakhstan OR United States OR Ameri*a OR Bra*il* OR Argentin* OR Afri*a OR Australi* OR Iran OR Hongkong OR Persi*))
	Subjects: Agriculture, Anthropology, Aquatic Sciences, Archaeology, Bibliography, Biological Sciences, Botany & Plant Sciences, British Studies, Classical Studies, Cultural Studies, Development Studies, Ecology & Evolutionary Biology, Economics, Environmental Studies, Environmental Science, European Studies, General Science, Geography, Health Policy, Health Sciences, History, History of Science & Technology, Mathematics, Middle East Studies, Museum Studies, Population Studies, Public Health, Public Policy & Administration, Science & Technology Studies, Statistics, Technology, Urban Studies, Zoology Type: research-article
Pubmed	(plague OR Pest OR peste) AND (epidemi* OR mortalit*) AND (histori*) NOT (India OR Indien OR Madagas*ar OR China OR Mongolia OR Kazakhstan OR United States OR Ameri*a OR Bra*il* OR Argentin* OR Afri*a OR Australi* OR Iran OR Hongkong OR Persi*)
Internet Archive	-title:(India) AND -title:(Indien) AND -title:(Bombay) AND - title:(Ameri*a) AND -title:(Madagas*ar) AND -title:(Persi*) AND - title:(Hongkong) AND -title:(Hong Kong) AND -title:(China) AND - title:(Mesopotamie*) AND -collection:(jstor_publhealrepo1896) AND mediatype:(texts) AND -collection:(inlibrary) AND - collection:(dticarchive) AND ((plague OR Pest OR peste) AND (epidemi* OR mortalit*))

Text S1. Description of data collection

For the establishment of a novel dataset of plague outbreaks, we used a combination of systematic and opportunistic literature search. We systematically searched three major literature databases (jstor, pubmed and the internet archive). We also opportunistically searched a number of selected monographs on plague. We then screened the title (and abstracts if available) of all returned search results and decided for each result whether to screen the full text. From the screened full texts, we extracted all tables, lists and graphs that provided information on plague- or all-cause mortality at a monthly or higher temporal resolution. We extracted the data manually or using WebPlotDigitizer (https://automeris.io/WebPlotDigitizer/) and generated one dataset per plague epidemic.

Database	N retrieved	N included after title/abstract screening	N included after full text screening	
Pubmed	473	117	6	
Jstor	1611	81	1	
Archive.org	366	48	2	
Opportunistic	36	36	36	
Total	2486	282	45	

Table S2. Number of publications retrieved, screened and included from different databases and sources.

Table S3. Metadata of all included datasets. Mortality indicates whether the data are plague specific deaths or all-cause burials or deaths. Interval denotes the time step of the data collection. Source type indicates whether the data were digitized from a graph or a table/list. Values denotes whether the data are counts (deaths) or proportions/percentages. In the latter case, the data were only used for the assessment of the epidemic peak. Data ref gives the literature reference for the mortality data (and the population size if from a different source).

:4	counter	m 1000	stort	and	montolity	intorrol	aalandan	0.01100.0		data raf
10	Country	place			montanty	Interval		source	value	
1	Syria	Aleppo	1/01	1/62	all-cause	weekiy	jui	t	n	
2	Egypt	Alexandria	1834	1835	plague	daily	greg	t	n	[2]
3	Egypt	Alexandria	1836	1837	plague	monthly	greg	t	n	[2]
4	Egypt	Alexandria	1838		plague	monthly	greg	t	n	[2]
5	Egypt	Alexandria	1840	1011	plague	monthly	greg	t	n	[3]
6	Egypt	Alexandria	1840	1841	plague	monthly	greg	t	n	[3]
7	Egypt	Alexandria	1842	1843	plague	monthly	greg	t	n	[3]
8	Egypt	Alexandria	1842		plague	monthly	greg	t	n	[3]
9	Algeria	Algiers	1817	1819	plague	daily	greg	t	n	[4] ([5])
10	Algeria	Algiers	1821		plague	daily	greg	t	n	[4] ([5])
11	Algeria	Algiers	1822		plague	daily	greg	t	n	[4] ([5])
12	Italy	Arezzo	1390		all-cause	monthly	jul	g	n	[6]
13	Denmark	Asminderød	1711		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
14	Russia	Balga ²	1710		plague	weekly	greg	t	n	[8]
15	Spain	Barcelona	1457		plague	daily	jul	t	n	[9], ([10])
16	Spain	Barcelona	1475	1476	plague	daily	jul	t	n	[9], ([10])
17	Spain	Barcelona	1483		plague	daily	iul	t	n	[9]. ([10])
18	Spain	Barcelona	1489	1490	plague	daily	iul	t	n	[9]. ([10])
19	Spain	Barcelona	1494	1170	nlague	daily	iul	t	n	[9] ([10])
20	Spain	Barcelona	1501		nlague	daily	iul	t	n	[9] ([10])
21	Spain	Barcelona	1515		plague	daily	iul	t	n	[9] ([10])
21	Spain	Barcelona	1520		plague	daily	jul	t t	n	[9], ([10])
22	Spain	Barcelona	1520		plague	daily	jui	t	n	[9], ([10])
23	Spain	Barcolona	1558		plague	daily	jui iul	ι +	n	[9], ([10])
24	Spain	Darcelona ³	1590		plague	daily	Jui	ι ≁	11 m	[9], ([10])
25	Spain	Dirloand d	1589		plague	dally	greg	t	n	[9], ([10])
20	Denmark	Birkerød	1/11		all-cause	weekiy	greg	g	n	[/]
27	UK	Bisnops	1595		plague	monthly	jui	g	n	
28	Germany	Bremen	1/13		plague	monthly	greg	g	n	[/]
29	Denmark	Brønshøj	1/11	1.507	all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
30	Czech	Broumov	1632	1635	plague	monthly	greg	t	n	[12]
31	Egypt	Cairo	1801		all-cause	daily	greg	t	n	[13]
32	Egypt	Cairo	1835		plague	daily	greg	t	n	[14]
33	UK	Chester ²	1604	1604	plague	monthly	greg	g	n	[15]
34	UK	Chesterfield	1586	1587	all-cause	monthly	jul	g	n	[11]
35	UK	Colchester ³	1665	1666	plague	weekly	jul	g	n	[11]
36	France	Condé-sur-	1626	1627	plague	monthly	greg	t	n	[16]
37	Denmark	Copenhagen	1711		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
38	Hungary	Debrecen	1739	1740	plague	daily	greg	t	n	[17]
39	Denmark	Ejby	1711		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
40	Denmark	Esbønderup	1711		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
41	UK	Eyam	1665	1666	plague	daily	jul	t	n	[18]
42	Italy	Florence	1400		all-cause	daily	jul	g	n	[19]
43	Italy	Florence	1424^{4}		plague	daily	jul	g	р	[19]
44	Italy	Florence	1430^{4}		plague	daily	iul	g	p	[19]
45	Italv	Florence	1450 ⁴		plague	daily	jul	g	p	[19]
46	Italv	Florence	1456^4	1457	plague	daily	iul	g	b	[19]
47	Germany	Freiberg	1613	1614	plague	biweekly	greg	g	n	[20]
48	Poland	Gdansk	1709		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
49	France	Givry	1348		all-cause	daily	iul	t B	n	[21]
50	Germany	Halberstadt	1681	1682	all-cause	monthly	oreg	t	n	[22]
50	Johnany	imoorstaat	1001	1002	un cuuse	monuny	5105	·	*1	LJ

51	Germany	Halle	1682		all-cause	monthly	greg	t	n	[22]
52	Denmark	Helsingør	1711		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
53	Denmark	Herfølge	1711		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
54	UK	Inswich	1665	1666	plague	monthly	iul	g	n	[11]
55	Russia	Kaliningrad	1620	1000	all-cause	weekly	oreo	t t	n	[8]
56	Russia	Kaliningrad	1709	1710	all-cause	weekly	greg	t	n	[8]
57	Denmark	Kildebrande	1711	1/10	all cause	weekly	grag	ι σ	n	[0]
58	Lithuania	Klaipada ^{2,3}	1710		nlaguo	weekly	grog	<u>5</u> t	n	[/] [9]
50	Danmanlı	Klaipeua	1711		plague	weekly	greg	ι α	11 m	[0]
39	Denmark	Køge	1/11		all-cause	weekiy	greg	g	11	[/]
60	France	Le Tourneur	1035		plague	monthly	greg	t	n	[10]
61	Denmark	Ledøje	1/11		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[/]
62	UK	Leeds ³	1645		plague	weekly	jul	t	n	[23]
63	Netherland	Leiden	1624	1625	all-cause	daily	greg	t	n	[24]
64	Netherland	Leiden	1635		all-cause	daily	greg	t	n	[24]
65	Netherland	Leiden	1655		all-cause	daily	greg	t	n	[24]
66	Netherland	Leiden	1664		all-cause	daily	greg	t	n	[24]
67	Portugal	Lisbon	1569		plague	monthly	greg	g	р	[25]
68	Portugal	Lisbon	1579	1580	plague	monthly	greg	g	р	[25]
69	UK	London	1563	1564	plague	weekly	jul	t	n	[26], ([27])
70	UK	London	1578	1582	plague	weekly	iul	t	n	[26], ([27])
71	UK	London	1593		plague	weekly	iul	t	n	[28], ([27])
72	UK	London	1603		plague	weekly	inl	t	n	[26], ([27])
73	UK OK	London	1605	1610	plague	weekly	iul	t t	n	[28], ([27])
74	UK	London	1625	1626	plague	weekly	jui	ι +	n	[28], ([27])
74		London	1620	1020	plague	weekly	jui 1	ι +	11 n	[20], ([27])
75		London	1030	1(27	plague	weekly	jui i1	l 4	11	[20], ([27])
/0	UK	London	1030	1037	plague	weekly	<u>jui</u>	l.	n	[28], ([27])
77	UK	London	1639	1647	plague	weekly	jul	t	n	[28], ([27])
78	UK	London	1665		plague	weekly	jul	t	n	[28], ([27])
79	UK	Ludlow	1609		plague	monthly	jul	g	n	[11]
80	Spain	Madrid	1599		plague	weekly	greg	g	n	[29]
81	Germany	Magdeburg	1681		all-cause	monthly	greg	t	n	[22]
82	Malta	Malta	1813		plague	daily	greg	t	n	[30]
83	Switzerlan	Malters	1628	1630	all-cause	monthly	greg	g	n	[31]
84	UK	Manchester	1605		all-cause	daily	jul	t	n	[32]
85	UK	Manchester	1645		all-cause	monthly	jul	g	n	[33]
86	Russia	Moscow	1771		all-cause	daily	jul	g	n	[34]
87	Germany	Mühlhausen	1683		all-cause	monthly	greg	t	n	[22]
88	Denmark	Nakskov	1619	1620	all-cause	monthly	iul	g	n	[35]
89	UK	Newcastle	1636		plague	weekly	iul	t	n	[36]
90	Estonia	Noarootsi	1710	1711	all-cause	weekly	greg	ø	n	[7]
91	Italy	Nonantola	1630	1/11	all-cause	weekly	oreg	σ	n	[37]
92	Germany	Nordhausen	1682	1683	all-cause	monthly	greg	5 t	n	[22]
93	UK	Norwich	1602	1604	nlague	monthly	greg	ι σ	n	[22]
0/	UK	Norwich	1666	1004	plague	wookly	inl	5 t	n	[30]
05	Ukraina	Odesse	1912		plague	monthly	jui 1	ι +	11 n	[39]
7J 06		Oucssa	1012	1560	plague	monthly	յա 1	ι α	n	[40]
90	UK	Dewestry	1539	1300	plague	monuny	jui	g	11	[11]
97		Parma	1030	1500	all-cause	monthly	greg	ι	n	[41]
98		Penrith	1597	1598	plague	monthly	greg	g	n	[15]
99	Poland	P1sz ²	1710		plague	weekly	greg	t	n	[8]
10	Czech	Prague ³	1680	1681	plague	weekly	greg	t	n	[42]
10	Czech	Prague ³	1713	1714	plague	daily	greg	t	n	[43]
10	UK	Preston	1630	1631	all-cause	monthly	jul	g	n	[11]
10	Estonia	Reval	1710		all-cause	monthly	greg	g	n	[7]
10	Denmark	Roskilde	1711		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
10	France	Rouen	1668		plague	monthly	greg	t	n	[16]
10	UK	Ruthin	1349		plague	monthly	jul	g	n	[11]
10	UK	Shrewsbury	1650	1651	plague	monthly	jul	g	n	[11]
10	Germanv	Stade	1712		plague	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
10	Sweden	Stockholm	1710	1711	all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
11	Denmark	Store	1711		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
11	Denmark	Stralsund	1710	1711	all-cause	monthly	greg	σ	n	[7]
L	2 onnun	~ in all all a	1110	* / * 1	an cuube	monuny	0,20	D	**	L'J

11	UK	Stratford-	1564	1565	all-cause	monthly	greg	g	n	[15]
11	Denmark	Tårnby	1711		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
11	Denmark	Tikøb	1711		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
11	Lithuania	Tilsit ³	1710		plague	weekly	greg	t	n	[8]
11	UK	Totnes	1570		plague	monthly	jul	g	n	[11]
11	UK	Totnes	1590		plague	monthly	jul	t	n	[26]
11	Germany	Uelzen	1566		all-cause	weekly	jul	g	n	[44]
11	Germany	Uelzen	1597		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[44]
12	Germany	Uelzen	1626		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[44]
12	Germany	Uelzen	1627		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[44]
12	Spain	Valladolid ³	1599		plague	weekly	greg	g	n	[29]
12	Russia	Vetlyanka	1878	1879	plague	daily	jul	g	n	[45]
12	Spain	Vic	1361	1362	all-cause	monthly	jul	t	n	[46]
12	Spain	Vic	1371		all-cause	monthly	jul	t	n	[46]
12	Austria	Vienna	1653	1656	plague	monthly	greg	t	n	[47], ([48])
12	Austria	Vienna	1679		all-cause	monthly	greg	t	n	[49], ([48])
12	Poland	Warsaw	1708		all-cause	weekly	greg	g	n	[7]
12	UK	Whitchurch	1650	1651	plague	monthly	jul	g	n	[11]
13	Poland	Zalewo ²	1710		plague	monthly	greg	t	n	[8]

Abbreviations: jul=julian, greg=gregorian, t=table, g=graph, n=numbers (counts), p=proportion 1 some days in April 1835 in the original data seem to lack the 100 digit, which has been added in our data set

2 the number for the population size was approximated as the number of hearths/households given in the reference times six persons per household

3 incomplete epidemiological curve (beginning and/or end missing)

4 The y-axis of the original graph indicates number of daily deaths, but the occurrence of numbers smaller than one suggest that the data were interpolated. We therefore converted the curve to proportions

	Plague mortality	All-cause mortality	Total
Yearly peaks, N	100	57	157
Time interval, N			
Daily	25 (32.8)	9 (16.7)	34 (26.2)
Weekly	22 (28.9)	27 (50)	49 (37.7)
Biweekly	1 (1.3)	0 (0)	1 (0.8)
Monthly	28 (36.8)	18 (33.3)	46 (35.4)
Unique locations, N	42	45	87
Century, N (%)			
14 th	1 (1.3)	4 (7.4)	5 (3.8)
15 th	9 (11.8)	1 (1.9)	10 (7.7)
16 th	18 (23.7)	4 (7.4)	22 (16.9)
17 th	25 (32.9)	20 (37)	45 (34.6)
18^{th}	9 (11.8)	24 (44.4)	33 (25.4)
19 th	14 (18.5)	1 (1.9)	15 (11.5)

Table S4. Characteristics of datasets included in the main analysis (plaguemortality) and the sensitivity analysis (plague and all-cause mortality)



Figure S1. Map of the number of available datasets by location and data type.



Figure S2. Incident plague (red bars) and all-cause deaths (blue bars) from all the datasets in the analysis



Figure S2 continued. Incident plague (red bars) and all-cause deaths (blue bars) from all the datasets in the analysis



Figure S2 continued. Incident plague (red bars) and all-cause deaths (blue bars) from all the datasets in the analysis



Figure S3. Association of the attack rate (i.e. the estimated proportion of the initial population infected at the end of the epidemic) with the initial population size.

Figure S4. Results of the sensitivity analysis on the association between annual mean temperature and epidemic peak timing using different datasets. (A) monthly plague data, (B) weekly plague and all-cause mortality data during plague outbreaks, (C) monthly plague and all-cause mortality data during plague outbreaks and (D) weekly plague deaths from outbreaks with at least 100 deaths at peak. The line and the shaded areas represent the fit and 95% CI.



Figure S5. Epidemiological curves and the corresponding time-varying growth rates. The dark grey bars represent the incident plague mortality, the light grey bars represent the incident plague cases calculated from the mortality data. The red line and pink ribbon are the mean estimate and 95% CI for the time-varying epidemic growth rate calculate based on the incident case data (right y-axis). Values below 0 indicate no growth (i.e. a decline of the epidemic). The values on the right y-axis represent the daily growth rate.



Figure S5 continued. Epidemiological curves and the corresponding timevarying growth rates. The dark grey bars represent the incident plague mortality, the light grey bars represent the incident plague cases calculated from the mortality data. The red line and pink ribbon are the mean estimate and 95% CI for the time-varying epidemic growth rate calculate based on the incident case data (right y-axis). Values below 0 indicate no growth (i.e. a decline of the epidemic). The values on the right y-axis represent the daily growth rate.



Aug

Oct No

Ser

Figure S6. Results from the sensitivity analysis for the association of the timevarying growth rates and temperature. The red line and pink ribbon is the mean and 95% CI of the GAMM model prediction. (A) Prediction based on a subset of large outbreaks (at least 500 cases at peak), (B) prediction based on dataset omitting observations from London.



Figure S7. Association of growth rates with precipitation. The red line and pink ribbon is the mean and 95% CI of the GAMM model prediction. (A) Prediction based on the full dataset, (B) prediction based on a dataset omitting observations from London.







Text S2. Assessment of discrepancy between historical and modern temperature data

We sought to address the limitation of using modern, averaged temperature data instead of concurrent historical data. Due to the scarcity of historical meteorological data during outbreaks, we were able to find only one set of temperature measurements, which was recorded during the 1835 outbreak in Cairo together with the plague mortality [14]. The data consist of three daily recordings at 6 am, 2 pm and 10 pm made from January to June 1835. We averaged the three measurements for each day and fitted the same Fourier series model (see main text) to the historical data. As shown in Fig. S7, the predicted temperature from the CRU series was lower than the predicted temperature from the historical series (median difference 0.9 °C, range -1.4 to 1.5°C). The difference appeared to be systematic except for the beginning of January, where the historical data temperatures are lower than the modern ones. Of note, the historical measurements lack a recording during the night, when temperature was presumably lowest, which means that the calculated averages and thus the difference to the CRU time series, which are based on modern weather stations with continuous readings, might be slightly lower. This comparison shows that the difference between averaged modern temperatures and averaged historical temperatures may be up to several degrees.

Figure S9: Difference between daily averaged historical temperature (red dots) and the corresponding fit (red line) recorded during the plague outbreak in 1835 and the monthly averaged temperature measurements (blue dots) and the corresponding fit (blue) for the CRU time series data (1901-1939).



Additional references

- [1] Russell, A. 1756 The natural history of Aleppo, and parts adjacent. Containing a description of the city, and the principal natural productions in its neighbourhood; together with an account of the climate, inhabitants, and diseases; particularly of the plague, with the methods used by the Europeans for their preservation. London, Printed for A. Millar.
- [2] Aubert-Roche, L.R. 1843 De la peste, ou, Typhus d'Orient : documens et observations recueillis pendant les années 1834 a 1838, en Egypte, en Arabie, sur la Mer Rouge, en Abyssinie, a Smyrne et a Constantinople : suivis d'un essai sur le hachisch et son emploi dans le traitement de la peste, et d'un mémoire sur la prophylaxie générale de la peste. Paris, Just Rouvier.
- [3] Thompson Kay, W. 1847 Remarks on the climate of lower Egypt, particularly Alexandria, and the plague that appearead there in 1835, 1840 and 1841: Illustrated by official returns for ten years. *The Medical Times* **16**, 32.
- [4] Guyon, J.L.G. 1855 *Histoire chronologique des épidémies du nord de l'Afrique depuis les temps les plus reculés jusqu'à nos jours*. Alger, Impr. du Gouvernement.
- [5] Cresti, F. 1987 Alger à la période turque. Observations et hypothèses sur sa population et sa structure sociale. *Revue de l'Occident musulman et de la Méditerranée* **44**, 125-133. (doi:10.3406/remmm.1987.2162).
- [6] Cohn, S.K. 2002 *The black death transformed : disease and culture in early Renaissance Europe*. London, Arnold.
- [7] Frandsen, K.E. 2010 *The Last Plague in the Baltic Region, 1709-1713*, Museum Tusculanum Press; 537 p.
- [8] Sahm, W. 1905 *Geschichte der Pest in Ostpreussen*. Leipzig, Duncker & Humblot.
- [9] Ferrán i Clua, J., Viñas y Cusí, F. & de Grau, C.R. 1907 La Peste Bubónica: memoria sobre la epidemia ocurrida en Porto en 1899. Barcelona, Typografia Sucesor F. Sanchez.
- [10] Smith, R.S. 1936 Barcelona "Bills of Mortality" and Population, 1457-1590. *Journal of Political Economy* **44**, 84-93.
- [11] Shrewsbury, J.F.D. 1970 A History of Bubonic Plague in the British Isles. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- [12] Čáňová, E. 1997 Morová epidemie na Broumovsku v letech 1633-1634. *Demografie : revue pro výzkum populačního vývoje* **39**, 21-25.
- [13] Didelot, X., Whittles, L.K. & Hall, I. 2017 Model-based analysis of an outbreak of bubonic plague in Cairo in 1801. *Journal of the Royal Society*, *Interface / the Royal Society* 14. (doi:10.1098/rsif.2017.0160).
- [14] Gaetani, F. 1841 *Sulla peste che afflisse l'Egitto l'anno 1835. Relazione*. Napoli, Ministero di stato degli affari interni, 'R. Albergo de' Poveri'.
- [15] Scott, S. & Duncan, C.J. 2009 *Biology of Plagues*. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- [16] Porquet, L. 1898 *La peste en Normandie : du XIVe au XVIIe siècle*. Vire, Imprimerie René ENG.

- [17] Horváth, R.A. 1962 Quelques données inconnues sur la mortalité de la peste de Debrecen (1739-40) et celle du choléra en Hongrie (1831, 1866, 1872-1873). Acta Universitatis Szegediensis : acta juridica et politica 9, 1-20.
- [18] Whittles, L.K. & Didelot, X. 2016 Epidemiological analysis of the Eyam plague outbreak of 1665-1666. *Proc Biol Sci* 283. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2016.0618).
- [19] Carmichael, A.G. 1986 *Plague and the poor in Renaissance Florence*. Cambridge Cambridge University Press.
- [20] Monecke, S., Monecke, H. & Monecke, J. 2009 Modelling the black death. A historical case study and implications for the epidemiology of bubonic plague. *Int J Med Microbiol* 299, 582-593. (doi:10.1016/j.ijmm.2009.05.003).
- [21] Gras, P. 1939 Le Registre paroissial de Givry, 1334-1357, et la peste noire en Bourgogne. *Bibliothèque de l'école des chartes* **100**, 295-308.
- [22] von Knorre, G. & Paasch, S. 1981 Die Pest in Mitteldeutschland im 17. Jahrhundert. *Z Gesamte Inn Med* **36**, 528-533.
- [23] Leeds Parish Church (England). 1897 The registers of the Parish Church of Leeds from 1639 to 1667 : fifth and sixth books / edited by George Denison Lumb. Leeds, Thoresby Society.
- [24] Curtis, D.R. 2016 Was Plague an Exclusively Urban Phenomenon? Plague Mortality in the Seventeenth-Century Low Countries. *The Journal of Interdisciplinary History* 47, 139-170. (doi:10.1162/JINH_a_00975).
- [25] Rodrigues Ferreira, T., Andresen, R. & Ortigão Ramos, V. 1986 Para o estudo das pestes e epidemias na Lisboa Quinhentista. *Boletim do Centro de Estudos Históricos e Etnológicos* 1, 101-133.
- [26] Creighton, C. 1891 *A history of epidemics in Britain*. 2nd ed. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- [27] Sutherland, I. 1972 When was the Great Plague? Mortality in London, 1563 to 1665. In: *Population and social change* (eds. D.V. Glass & R. Revelle), pp. 287-320. London, Arnold.
- [28] Morris, C., Petty, W., Graunt, J. & Birch, T. 1759 A Collection of the yearly bills of mortality, from 1657 to 1758 inclusive. Together with several other bills of an earlier date. London, A. Millar.
- [29] Bennassar, B. 1969 Recherches sur les grandes épidémies dans le nord de l'Espagne à la fin du XVIe siècle : problèmes de documentation et de méthode. Paris, S.E.V.P.E.N.
- [30] Hennen, J. 1830 Sketches of the Medical Topography of the Mediterranean, Comprising an Account of Gibraltar, the Ionian Islands, and Malta; to Which Is Prefixed a Sketch of a Plan for Memoirs on Medical Topography. *Edinb Med Surg J* 34, 140-164.
- [31] Eckert, E.A. 1980 Seasonality of plague in early modern Europe: Swiss epidemic of 1628--1630. *Rev Infect Dis* 2, 952-959. (doi:10.1093/clinids/2.6.952).
- [32] OnLine Parish Clerks project for the County of Lancashire. Collegiate Church of St Mary, St Denys and St George, Manchester. Burials at the Cathedral in the City of Manchester, 1605 1608. Available from: http://www.lan-

opc.org.uk/Manchester/Manchester/cathedral/index.html. [Accessed Jul 15, 2019].

- [33] Axon, W.E.A. 1895 Chronological notes on the visitation of plague in Lancashire and Cheshire. *Transactions of the Lancashire and Cheshire Antiquarian Society* **XII**, 52-99.
- [34] Alexander, J.T. 2002 Bubonic Plague in Early Modern Russia: Public Health and Urban Disaster, Oxford University Press.
- [35] Christensen, P. 2003 "In these perilous times": plague and plague policies in early modern Denmark. *Medical history* **47**, 413-450.
- [36] Wrightson, K. 2011 Ralph Tailor's Summer, Yale University Press.
- [37] Alfani, G. & Cohn Jr., S.K. 2007 Nonantola 1630. Anatomia di una pestilenza e meccanismi del contagio (con riflessioni a partire dalle epidemie milanesi della prima Età moderna). *Popolazione e Storia* **2**, 99-138.
- [38] Slack, P. 1981 The disappearance of plague: an alternative view. *Econ Hist Rev* **34**, 469-476. (doi:10.1111/j.1468-0289.1981.tb02081.x).
- [39] Great Britain. Public Record Office. 1864 Calendar of state papers, domestic series of the reign of Charles II. Preserved in Her Majesty's Public Record Office Edited by Mary Anne Everett Green: 1666-1667. London, Longman, Green, Longman, Roberts and Green.
- [40] Dörbeck, F. 1906 Geschichte der Pestepidemien in Russland von der Gründung des Reiches bis auf die Gegenwart. Breslau, Kern.
- [41] Manfredini, M., De Iasio, S. & Lucchetti, E. 2002 The plague of 1630 in the territory of Parma: Outbreak and effects of a crisis. *International Journal of Anthropology* 17, 41-57. (doi:10.1007/bf02447903).
- [42] Kryl, R. 1962 Mor v Praze v roce 1680-1681. *Demografie : revue pro výzkum populačního vývoje* **4**, 91.
- [43] Löw von Erlsfeld, J.F. 1648-1725 Manual aller denckwürdigen Sachen, so mich undt die Meinigen angehet [Manuscript]. Prague, XVI.C.10, National Library of the Czech Republic, 142-151.
- [44] Woehlkens, E. 1954 *Pest und Ruhr im 16. und 17. Jahrhundert.* Uelzen, Becker Verlag.
- [45] Rózsahegyi, A. 1879 *Die Pest-Epidemie in Astrachan im Winter 1878-1879*, F.C. Wilckens & Sohn.
- [46] Bautier, R.-H. 1988 Un ensemble documentaire pour l'histoire des pestes du XIVe siècle : l'exemple de la ville de Vich en Catalogne. *Comptes-rendus des séances de l année - Académie des inscriptions et belles-lettres* 132, 432-455. (doi:10.3406/crai.1988.14622).
- [47] Olbort, F. 1973 "Vergessene" Pestjahre. Die Seuche von 1653 bis 1656 in Wien. Wien Geschichtsbl 28, 10-14.
- [48] Vienna Institute of Demography. Historisches Ortslexikon. Statistische Dokumentationzur Bevölkerungs- und Siedlungsgeschichte Wien. Available from:

https://www.oeaw.ac.at/fileadmin/subsites/Institute/VID/PDF/Publications/div erse_Publications/Historisches_Ortslexikon/Ortslexikon_Wien.pdf. [Accessed Jun 2].

[49] Senfelder, L. 1899 Das niederösterreichische Sanitätswesen und die Pest im 16. und 17. Jahrhundert. Blätter des Vereines für Landeskunde von Niederösterreich 33, 35-71.

Paper III


Paper III

Paper IV

